
 

 
 

 

 
To: Councillor Milne, Chairperson; and Councillors Donnelly and Lawrence. 

  

 

 
Town House, 

ABERDEEN, 24 June 2014 
 
 

LOCAL REVIEW BODY OF ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL 

 

 The Members of the LOCAL REVIEW BODY OF ABERDEEN CITY COUNCIL are 
requested to meet in Committee Room 2 - Town House on FRIDAY, 4 JULY 2014 at 

10.00 am. 
 
 

 
JANE G. MACEACHRAN 

HEAD OF LEGAL AND DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 
 

 

 

B U S I N E S S 

 

1 Procedure Notice  (Pages 1 - 2) 
 

 TO REVIEW THE DECISION OF THE APPOINTED OFFICER TO REFUSE THE 

FOLLOWING APPLICATIONS 

 

 COPIES OF THE RELEVANT PLANS / DRAWINGS ARE AVAILABLE FOR 

INSPECTION IN ADVANCE OF THE MEETING AND WILL BE DISPLAYED AT 

THE MEETING 

 

2 Pinelands, Murtle Den Road (ref 131419) - Gavin Evans   
 

 2(A)  Report of Handling  (Pages 3 - 12) 
 

 2(B)  Details of Planning Policies referred to in documents submitted  (Pages 13 
- 36) 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 
 
 

 2(C)  Notice of Review with supporting information submitted by applicant  
(Pages 37 - 60) 
 

3 13 - 15 Chapel Street (ref 140130)   
 

 3(A)  Report of Handling  (Pages 61 - 68) 
 

 3(B)  Details of Planning Policies referred to in documents submitted  (Pages 69 
- 76) 
 

 3(C)  Notice of Review with supporting information submitted by applicant  
(Pages 77 - 226) 
 

4 44 Bedford Road (ref 140090) - Lucy Greene   
 

 4(A)  Report of Handling  (Pages 227 - 236) 
 

 4(B)  Details of Planning Policies referred to in documents submitted  (Pages 
237 - 332) 
 

 4(C)  Notice of Review with supporting information submitted by applicant  
(Pages 333 - 344) 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Website Address: www.aberdeencity.gov.uk  
 
 
Should you require any further information about this agenda, please contact Martin 
Allan, tel. (52)3057 or email mallan@aberdeencity.gov.uk   
 



Agenda Item 1

Page 1



Page 2



  

Signed (authorised Officer(s)):  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PINELANDS, MURTLE DEN ROAD, 
MILLTIMBER 
 
ERECTION OF NEW 3 STOREY DWELLING 
HOUSE AT PINELANDS     
 
For: Mr & Mrs Ian & Christine Lakin 
 
Application Type : Detailed Planning 
Permission 
Application Ref. : P131419 
Application Date : 26/09/2013 
Advert   : Dev. Plan Departure 
Advertised on : 09/10/2013 
Officer   : Paul Williamson 
Creation Date : 8 January 2014 
Ward: Lower Deeside (M Boulton/A 
Malone/M Malik) 
Community Council: No response received 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
 
Refuse 
 
DESCRIPTION 
 
The application site is to the south of and forms part of the wider ‘garden’ ground 
of the residential property ‘Pinelands’.  It is located on the east side of Murtle Den 
Road, a private road, situated to the north of North Deeside Road (A93) between 
Milltimber and Bieldside. 
 
Murtle Den Road is characterised by (thirteen) large detached dwellinghouses 
set within generous plots in a mature woodland setting. It is a no-through road 
and can only be accessed from North Deeside Road. 
  

Agenda Item 2(A)

Page 3



The application site itself extends to approximately 0.72 hectares, while the 
currently extent of the curtilage associated with Pinelands extends to some 1.53 
hectares. The land to which this application relates has in the past been utilised 
as a small domestic ‘pitch and putt’ golf practice facility associated with the 
existing dwelling, although it does not appear to have been significantly 
maintained for some time and also suffers from poor drainage. 
 
The existing dwelling ‘Pinelands’ is a two storey modern detached dwellinghouse 
fronting onto Murtle Den Road, with a conservatory extension on the east (rear) 
elevation, and lies to the north of the site, with the south and east elevations 
facing out across relatively open landscaped gardens, towards Murtle Dam.  A 
detached double garage is located close to Murtle Den Road and is accessed off 
the extensive paved area to the front of the dwelling. 
 
In respect of topography, the site is 70 metres (Above Ordnance Datum) at the 
north west corner, falling to approximately 50 metres (AOD) at the eastern edge, 
near the Murtle Dam. 
 
The western, southern and eastern boundaries see a number of coniferous and 
deciduous trees present with 33 individual specimens. These trees are generally 
around 13 – 20m in height; however there are larger trees, the highest of which is 
some 33m high.   The remaining boundary to the north is currently undefined as it 
forms part of the wider garden ground of the existing property.   
 
To the west of the site across Murtle Den Road, which is itself tree lined, are the 
dwellings known as ‘Altmore’ and ‘Sunhoney’. To the north beyond Pinelands, is 
‘Murtle Den House’ a category ‘B’ listed building.  To the south is an open 
field/paddock. 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 
 

• Planning application (Ref 89/0498) for the erection of a detached 3 car garage 
and games room was lodged in March 1989, and approved unconditionally in 
May 1989. 

• Planning application (Ref 89/0852) for the erection of a conservatory was 
lodged in June 1989, and approved unconditionally in July 1989. 

• Planning application (Ref 92/1591) related to the alterations of the house to 
incorporate a swimming pool, and approved conditionally in July 1992. 

• Planning application (Ref 99/1160) for the provision of a sun deck, Gazebo 
and Jetty, was approved conditionally in July 1999. 

• Planning application (Ref 09/0822) for the erection of a new dwellinghouse at 
Pinelands was lodged in June 2009.  The application was subsequently 
withdrawn by the applicant in September 2009. 

• Planning application (Ref 10/0067) for the erection of a swimming pool was 
lodged in January 2010, and approved unconditionally in April 1997. 

Page 4



• Planning  application (Ref 110525) for the conversion of the existing 
conservatory to form a dining room (actually included an extension and 
alteration to the existing conservatory), was approved unconditionally in June 
2011. 

 
PROPOSAL 
 
It is proposed to erect a detached dwellinghouse on the site, which would 
subdivide the existing curtilage relating to the existing dwelling ‘Pinelands’.  The 
feu split would see two curtilages of similar size and with similar frontages to 
Murtle Dem Road. 
 
The dwelling would include accommodation over four levels (each being 
accessible by either stairs or a lift), and would feature an integral triple garage. 
To the western (front) elevation, only one storey would be visible, while to the 
rear (eastern elevation) a full three storeys would be visible due to the change in 
topography.  There would also be an office and storage space within the roof 
space, with light gained from rooflights. 
 
In terms of levels, presently there is a gradual slope from the road into the site.  
In order to develop the proposed house a ‘cut and fill’ exercise would be 
undertaken, seeing the retention of the front part of the ground on which the 
house would be situated, with a much lower level to the rear. 
 
This retention would see the proposed house occupy one and a half storeys to 
the front and three and a half to the rear, thus being of split levels. 
 
The floor plate accessed from the main entrance to the front would flow from the 
front elevation to the back and contain: a porch, reception hall, lounge, family 
room, two dining areas, kitchen, utility room, shower room, and the integral triple 
garage. A balcony is also provided to the eastern elevation looking out towards 
the Murtle Dam, which would be at second floor level, due to the change of levels 
from front to back. 
 
Below this level and only having an elevation to the east, as the rear wall would 
adjoin the retained ground, are: 4 bedrooms, and associated wardrobes, storage 
and a externally accessed garden equipment store.   
 
Lastly, at rear ground level is: a home cinema, exercise room, guest bedroom, 
and a small kitchen.  A small terrace at this level leads out to an area of decking 
to the rear, and two linked feature ponds. 
 
Externally the dwelling would be finished in a light coloured smooth render with 
some areas of timber cladding, and a zinc standing seam roof. The windows and 
doors would be aluminium framed timber and triple glazed.  Balconies would be 
stainless steel with frameless tinted glass. 

Page 5



 
The dwellinghouse would have its own driveway accessed off Murtle Den Road, 
in a position located in between existing gaps in the roadside trees/hedging. No 
trees would be removed to allow development.  Additional planting is shown to 
the south of the proposed dwelling.   
 
Foul drainage would be discharged to a partial soakaway via a treatment unit. 
Surface water run-off from the roof and driveway would be treated by SUDS 
within the site.  A supply of fresh water would be taken from the water main 
located on Murtle Den Road. 
 
A supporting statement, tree report and drainage assessment have been 
submitted in support of the application. 
 
Supporting Documents 
 
All drawings and the supporting documents listed below relating to this 
application can be viewed on the Council’s website at -   
http://planning.aberdeencity.gov.uk/PlanningDetail.asp?ref=131419 

On accepting the disclaimer enter the application reference quoted on the first 
page of this report. 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Roads ProjectsTeam – No objection following the provision of information in 
respect of the proposed visibility splay. 
Environmental Health – No comments received. 
Enterprise, Planning & Infrastructure (Flooding) – No objection although 
require details of the surface water drainage proposals.  
Scottish Environment Protection Agency – Removed their objection in light of 
the submission of additional information relating to the costs associated with 
connecting to the public sewer on North Deeside Road.  Suggest the use of a 
condition requiring a connection to the public sewer once it has been provided 
down Murtle Den Road.  The outflow to the Murtle Dam shall be covered by the 
Controlled Activities Regulations, and associated application process. 
Community Council – No comments received. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
One letter of objection has been received. The objection raised relates to the 
following matters – 

• The tree survey lacks any detail to make any proper judgement on the 
proposals impact, and is therefore below BS standards in respect of Tree 
Surveys for Development 

• There is no information on the safety of trees in respect to the new 
proposed use 

Page 6



• There is no indication of how long term tree management will be 
accommodated for 

• There is no statement as to tree quality/value in respect of the site and 
surroundings 

• Some of the trees seem very large and close to the house and driveway, 
and are likely to suffer negatively from the proposals 

• Loss of green belt is a concern.   

• The site trees are of landscape and wildlife value.  If they are lost this will 
impact on the attractiveness of the open green belt to the public and will 
negatively affect wildlife through loss of habitat. 

 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
Scottish Planning Policy 

SPP is clear in identifying that the purpose of green belt designation in the 
development plan, as part of the settlement strategy for an area, is to: 

• direct planned growth to the most appropriate locations and support 
regeneration,  

• protect and enhance the quality, character, landscape setting and identity 
of towns and cities, and  

• protect and give access to open space within and around towns and cities. 

 
It further advises that where a proposal would not normally be consistent with 
green belt policy, it may still be considered appropriate either as a national 
priority or to meet an established need if no other suitable site is available. 
Development in a designated green belt should be of a high design quality and a 
suitable scale and form.  It further states that the cumulative erosion of a green 
belt’s integrity through the granting of individual planning permissions should be 
avoided. 
 
Aberdeen City and Shire Structure Plan 
 
The extant Structure Plan contains objectives in respect of encouraging 
economic growth, and ensuring that new development maintains and improves 
the region’s important built, natural and cultural assets.  There is also a further 
objective for development to be accessible. 
 
Aberdeen Local Development Plan 
 
Policy NE1 – Green Space Network: states that the Council will protect, promote 
and enhance the wildlife, recreational, landscape and access value of the Green 
Space Network.  Proposals for development that are likely to destroy or erode the 
character or function of the Green Space network will not be permitted. 

Page 7



 
Policy NE2 – Green Belt: no development will be permitted in the green belt for 
purposes othen than those essential for agriculture, woodland and forestry, 
recreational uses compatible with an agricultural or natural setting, mineral 
extraction or restoration or landscape renewal. 
 
Policy D1 (Architecture and Placemaking) – To ensure high standards of design, 
new development must be designed with due consideration for its context and 
make a positive contribution to its setting. Factors such as siting, scale, massing, 
colour, materials, orientation, details, the proportions of building elements, 
together with the spaces around buildings, including streets, squares, open 
space, landscaping and boundary treatments, will be considered in assessing 
that contribution. 
 
Policy D2 (Design and Amenity) – Privacy shall be designed into higher density 
housing, residential development will have a public face to the street and private 
face to an enclosed garden or court, residents shall have access to sitting out 
areas, car parking should not dominate, opportunities should be made of views 
and sunlight, measures should be included to design out crime and external 
lighting shall take into account amenity and the effects of light spillage. 
 
Policy NE5 (Trees and Woodland) – There is a presumption against all activities 
and development that will result in the loss of, or damage to, established trees 
and woodlands that contribute significantly to nature conservation, landscape 
character or local amenity, including ancient and semi-natural woodland which is 
irreplaceable. 
 
Policy NE6 (Flooding and Drainage) – Surface water drainage associated with 
development must be the most appropriate available in terms of SUDS and avoid 
flooding and pollution both during and after construction.  
 
In areas not served by the public sewer, a private sewer treatment system for 
individual properties will be permitted provided that the developer demonstrates 
that there will be no adverse effects on the environment, amenity and public 
health. 
 
Supplementary Guidance 
 
Oldfold Development Framework and Masterplan 
 
The agricultural land predominately to the west is identified in the Local 
Development Plan as Opportunity Site 62 (OP62) and is known as ‘Oldfold’ and 
extends to 48.9 hectares. Oldfold is allocated for the development of                                
550 residential units and 5 hectares of employment land in the period between 
2007 and 2026. 
 

Page 8



The area to the north of Murtle Den Road is specifically identified as being 
suitable for further residential development (up to 9 units), which would be 
distinct from the rest of the Oldfold development and would in essence be an 
extension to Murtle Den Road. Housing in this area should be developed to be in 
keeping with the character of existing properties.  
 
EVALUATION 
 
Sections 25 and 37(2) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as 
amended) require that where, in making any determination under the planning 
acts, regard is to be had to the provisions of the development plan and that 
determination shall be made in accordance with the plan, so far as material to the 
application, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Principle of Residential Development 
 
Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) is clear in identifying that the aim of green belt is 
to direct planned growth to the most appropriate location, and to protect and 
enhance the quality, character and setting of towns and cities.  In this instance, 
while adjacent to existing residential property, the site is located within the wider 
Green Belt.  As such, the allowance of further residential development in this 
location may have a detrimental impact on the character of the landscape setting 
of this part of the green belt, which would be contrary to the advice within 
paragrpah 163 of SPP which states: “the cumulative erosion of a green belt’s 
integrity through the granting of individual planning permissions should be 
avoided”.    
 
On a related consideration are the principles of policies NE2 - Green Belt and 
NE1 - Green Space Network.  The wider aim of the green belt has already been 
addressed, although the Local Development Plan does provide specific criteria 
for acceptable development in the Green Belt.  In this instance, the proposal 
does not meet any of the defined criteria for acceptable development in such an 
area, and is therefore deemed to be contrary to Policy NE2.  In respect of the 
Green Space Network (GSN), as the proposed would seek to develop existing 
garden ground which is synonymous with the character of housing along Murtle 
Den Road, it is considered that there is potential for further development to erode 
or destroy the character or function of the GSN in this location and would 
therefore be contrary to the aims of policy NE1. 
 
Changing Character of the Area 
 
Through the allocation of the Oldfold Masterplan site (which acts as an extension 
to Milltimber), the provision of 500 homes on land to the western edge of Murtle 
Den Road, shall undoubtedly have an effect on the wider character of the area.  
However, it should be noted that the Opportunity Site shall almost in its entireity 
be accessed from either a new road, or existing roads to the west.  Accordingly, 

Page 9



only a further 9 dwellings are to be accessed to the north west off Murtle Den 
Road.  In light of the general topography, and the large presence of trees and 
woodland, the Oldfold Development would not necessarily be seen in the same 
context as the Murtle Den valley itself, and would therefore not justify the 
provision of further development in the Green Belt, as proposed by this 
application.  Accordingly, the provision of development at Oldfold represents 
planned growth of an existing urban area, and would not act as a precedent for 
development of this nature. 
 
Layout, Access and Design 
 
The character of Murtle Den, which comprises large homes in sizeable grounds 
within a high quality woodland setting, is acknowledged.  However as noted 
above, the general principle of development on site cannot be established 
against Scottish Planning Policy nor the Local Development Plan Policy as it 
relates to Green Belt locations.  Therefore even though the general character of 
the area would be reflected through the scale and density of development 
proposed, as the principle cannot be accepted, there is little merit in considering 
the design elements of the proposal further.  Notwithstanding, the general scale 
of the contemporary proposal would utilise the landform to accommodate the 
development and reflect the scale of other large detached dwellings in the 
vicinity. 
 

Drainage 
 
In terms of foul drainage, the closest Scottish Water sewer is located at the 
junction of Murtle Den Road with North Deeside Road, some 600m to the south. 
Advice from SEPA states that ‘outwith sewered areas, the principle of private foul 
drainage systems are generally acceptable.  Therefore the principle of a private 
soakaway to deal with foul drainage is considered acceptable as the applicant 
has demonstrated that it is not financially feasible or reasonable to connect to the 
public system at this time. However, if the principle of planning permission had 
been established, SEPA recommended the use of a planning condition requiring 
a connection to the public system, once it is provided down Murtle Den Road, as 
a part of the associated Oldfold proposals.  Surface water drainage could 
ultimately be adequately addressed through a suspensive planning condition.   

 
Transport 
 
The traffic generated by the proposed dwellinghouse would be very minor and 
would not justify any improvements to junctions on roads in the area. Ample 
parking can be provided within the proposed plot for the size of the property and 
the proposed means of access to each site is acceptable.  Accordingly, no 
concerns have been raised by the Council’s roads service in this regard.   
 
Letter of representation 

Page 10



 
The following matters were raised within the letter of representation, which have 
not already been addressed above: 
 

• Trees - A total of thirty three trees are noted as being present within the 
application site within the submitted tree survey.  The letter of representation 
considers that the detail contained within the submitted tree survey would not 
necessarily be sufficient to meet the required British Standards for Tree 
Surveys relating to Development.  However, given that the principle of the 
development has not been established, it was not considered necessary to 
require an enhanced submission from the applicant.   
 
A new access is shown for the proposed dwelling, which would pass through 
the root protection areas of trees being retained alongside Murtle Den Road.  
In theory, planning conditions could have been utilised to ensure tree 
protection and retention in the long term, with the driveway ultimately 
constructed using a no-dig technique.  
 
The dwellinghouse itself could have an impact upon the existing trees 
particularly alongside Murtle Den Road, in light of the provision of a large area 
of hardstanding, together with the building footprint itself.  However, if the 
application had been accompanied by a Tree Survey to British Standards, it 
would have given an indication as to whether the footprint of the dwelling, and 
potentially the hardstanding would have had to be relocated.  However, the 
principle of development has not been established at this time.  Therefore 
should the Local Development Plan position ever change in this area, it may 
have to be taken into account for any future application which may be 
submitted.  

 

• Protected Species - A walkover habitat survey was not carried out to 
examine the potential for protected species to be present on the site.   Again, 
given that the principle of the proposal has not been established, it was not 
considered necessary to require the provision of additional information.   
 

Summary 
 
In summary, the proposal to sub divide the existing residential curtilage to 
provide an additional dwellinghouse is considered to be contrary to the principles 
of Green Belt policy, in that the proposal would result in the loss of character, or 
landscape setting of the area, and could lead to a precedent for similar 
development proposals which cumulatively would be to the detriment of the wider 
Green Belt of Aberdeen City.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Refuse 

Page 11



 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
(1) That the site lies within the Green Belt which is defined to protect and 
enhance the landscape setting and identity of urban areas and in which there is a 
presumption against most kinds of development with only limited exceptions. The 
proposed development does not comply with any of the specified exceptions to 
the presumption against development within the Green Belt and therefore does 
not comply with Policy NE2, and could erode the character or function of the 
Green Space Network thus conflicting with Policy NE1 of the Aberdeen Local 
Development Plan 2012. If permitted, this application would create a precedent 
for more, similar developments to the further detriment of the objectives of the 
Green Belt policy. 

Page 12



Policy NE1 – Green Space Network 
 
The City Council will protect, promote and enhance the wildlife, recreational, 
landscape and access value of the Green Space Network.  Proposals for 
development that are likely to destroy or erode the character or function of the 
Green Space Network will not be permitted.  Where major infrastructure 
projects or other developments necessitate crossing the Green Space 
Network, such development shall take into account the coherence of the 
network.  In doing so measures shall be taken to allow access across roads 
for wildlife and for access and outdoor recreation purposes. 
 
Masterplanning of new developments should determine the location and 
extent of the Green Space Network within these areas. 
 
Development which has any impact on existing wildlife habitats, or 
connections between them, or other features of value to natural heritage, 
open space, landscape and recreation must be mitigated through 
enhancement of Green Space Network. 

Agenda Item 2(B)

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy NE2 – Green Belt 
 
No development will be permitted in the green belt for purposes other than those 
essential for agriculture, woodland and forestry, recreational uses compatible with an 
agricultural or natural setting, mineral extraction or restoration or landscape renewal. 
 
The following exceptions apply to this policy: 
 
1. Proposals for development associated with existing activities in the green belt 

will be permitted but only if all of the following criteria are met: 
a) the development is within the boundary of the existing activity. 
b) the development is small-scale. 
c) the intensity of activity is not significantly increased. 
d) any proposed built construction is ancillary to what exists. 

 
2. Essential infrastructure, such as electronic communications infrastructure and 

electricity grid connections, transport proposals identified in the Local 
Development Plan, such as the Aberdeen Western Peripheral Route, as well 
as roads planned through the masterplanning of new housing and 
employment allocations, which cannot be accommodated other than in the 
green belt. 

 
3. Buildings in the green belt which have a historic or architectural interest or 

traditional character that contributes to the landscape setting of the city will be 
permitted to undergo a change of use to private residential use or to a use 
which makes a worthwhile contribution to the amenity of the green belt, 
providing it has been demonstrated that the building is no longer suitable for 
the purpose for which it was originally designed. (See Supplementary 
Guidance on The Conversion of Steadings and other Non-residential 
Vernacular Buildings in the Countryside). 

 
4. Proposals for extensions of existing buildings as part of a conversion or
 rehabilitation scheme will be permitted in the green belt provided: 

a) the original building remains visually dominant; 
b) the design of the extension is sympathetic to the original building in 

terms of massing, detailing and materials; and 
c) the siting of the extension relates well to the setting of the original 

building. 

Page 15



Page 16

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy D1 – Architecture and Placemaking 
 
To ensure high standards of design, new development must be designed with 
due consideration for its context and make a positive contribution to its 
setting.  Factors such as siting, scale, massing, colour, materials, orientation, 
details, the proportions of building elements, together with the spaces around 
buildings, including streets, squares, open space, landscaping and boundary 
treatments, will be considered in assessing that contribution. 
 
To ensure that there is a consistent approach to high quality development 
thropughout the City with an emphasis on creating quality places, the 
Aberdeen Masterplannign Process Supplementary Guidance will be applied. 
 
The level of detail required will be appropriate to the scale and sensitivity of 
the site.  The full scope will be agreed with us prior to commencement. 
 
Landmark or high buildings should respect the height and scale of their 
surroundings, the urban topography, the City’s skyline and aim to preserve or 
enhance important views. 
 

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy D2 - Design and Amenity 
 
In order to ensure the provision of appropriate levels of amenity the following 
principles will be applied: 
 
1. Privacy shall be designed into higher density housing. 
 
2. Residential development shall have a public face to a street and a private face 

to an enclosed garden or court. 
 
3. All residents shall have access to sitting-out areas. This can be provided by 

balconies, private gardens, terraces, communal gardens or other means 
acceptable to the Council. 

 
4. When it is necessary to accommodate car parking within a private court, the 

parking must not dominate the space: as a guideline no more than 50% of any 
court should be taken up by parking spaces and access roads. Underground 
or decked parking will be expected in high density schemes. 

 
5. Individual flats or houses within a development shall be designed to make the 

most of opportunities offered by the site for views and sunlight. Repeated 
standard units laid out with no regard for location or orientation are not 
acceptable. 

 
6. Development proposals shall include measures to design out crime and 

design in safety. 
 
7. External lighting shall take into account residential amenity and minimise light 

spillage into adjoining areas and the sky. 
 
Development deemed to have an influence on public realm in the City Centre, Town, 
District or Neighbourhood Centres will make an agreed contribution to art or other 
enhancement of the public realm. 

Page 19



Page 20

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy NE5 – Trees and Woodlands 

 

There is a presumption against all activities and development that will result in 
the loss of or damage to established trees and woodlands that contribute 
significantly to nature conservation, landscape character or local amenity, 
including ancient and semi-natural woodland which is irreplaceable. 
 

Appropriate measures should be taken for the protection and long term 
management of existing trees and new planting both during and after 
construction.  Buildings and services should be sited so as to minimise 
adverse impacts on existing and future trees and tree cover. 
 
Native trees and woodlands should be planted in new developments. 
 
Where trees are affected by a development proposal the City Council may 
make Tree Preservation Orders. 
 
A tree protection plan for the long term retention of trees should be submitted 
and agreed with the Council before development commences on site. 
 
See Supplementary Guidance on both protecting trees and woodlands and 
the trees and woodland strategy for Aberdeen for more information. 

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy NE6 – Flooding and Drainage 
 
Development will not be permitted if: 
 
1.  It would increase the risk of flooding:- 

(a) by reducing the ability of the functional flood plain to store and 
convey water; 

 (b)  through the discharge of additional surface water; or 
 (c)  by harming flood defences 
 

2. It would be at risk itself from flooding 
3. Adequate provision is not made for access to waterbodies for 

maintenance; or 
4. It would result in the construction of new or strengthened flood 

defences that would have a significantly damaging effect on the natural 
heritage interests within or adjacent to a watercourse. 

 
Applicants will be required to provide an assessment of flood risk where a 
development is likely to result in a material increase in the number of buildings 
at risk of flooding or where it has been indicated in the opportunity sites 
schedule that one will be prepared.  Windfall sites may also require a flood 
risk assessment. 
 
Where more than 10 homes or greater than 100m2 floorspace is proposed, 
the developer will be required to submit a Drainage Impact Assessment (see 
Supplementary Guidance on Drainage Impact Assessments).  Surface water 
drainage associated with development must: 
 

1. Be the most appropriate in terms of SUDS; and 
2. Avoid flooding and pollution both during and after construction. 

 
Connection to the public sewer will be a pre-requisite of all development 
where this is not already provided.  Private wastewater treatment systems in 
sewered areas will not be permitted.  In areas not served by the public sewer, 
a private sewer treatment system for individual properties will be permitted 
provided that the developer demonstrates that there will be no adverse effects 
on the environment, amenity and public health. 
 
 

Page 23



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

     

 
 

 

Summary Document 

 

Development Framework and 

Masterplan 

 

Oldfold, Milltimber 
 

 

 

 

Planning and Sustainable Development 

Aberdeen City Council 

St Nicholas House 

Broad Street 

Aberdeen 

AB10 1GY 

www.aberdeencity.gov.uk

January 2012 

Page 25



pg. 1

Oldfold - Site Area.

Oldfold - North Deeside Context.

Aberdeen

Pitfodels

Cults

Bieldside

Milltimber

Oldfold Site 
Area

A93

A93

Milltimber

Contlaw 
Road

Murtle Den

Beaconhill

Bieldside

Den of Murtle (Local Nature 
Conservation Site)

Peterculter

Proposed 
alignment of AWPR

Page 26



pg. 2

Introduction to Masterplan
This document has been produced 
to provide a synopsis of the Oldfold, 
Development Framework and Masterplan 
document. The summary aims to highlight 
the key information and guidance 
contained within the document however 
for a more complete and comprehensive 
understanding of the process, aims and 
outcomes of the Development Framework 
and Masterplan the main document should 
be referred to. 

The site, identified in the Aberdeen Local 
Development Plan, is located approximately 
7 miles to the west of Aberdeen city 
centre. The site identified as Oldfold is 
approximately 48 hectares and lies to the 
east of the main settlement of Milltimber.

The Development Framework and 
Masterplan describe how a residential 
led mixed use development of up to 550 
residential units, supporting employment 
and community uses can be developed as 
an extension to the existing settlement of 
Milltimber.  It is intended that the document 
will form the basis of Supplementary  
Guidance (SG) to the Aberdeen Local 
Development Plan. 

The Masterplan document has been 
prepared on behalf of The Seven 
Incorporated Trades of Aberdeen Trades 
Widows’ Fund  & CALA Homes (East) (‘the 
Promoters’).  It outlines the proposals to 
develop a high quality and deliverable 
residential expansion to the east of 
Milltimber.  The promoters assembled a 
multi-disciplinary team to produce the 
Masterplan for Oldfold.

The design team has worked closely 
together to provide a well considered 
and appropriate masterplan response to 
the site. The Development Framework 
and Masterplan have been informed and 
supported by a series of technical studies 
and reports. Throughout the evolution 
of the Development Framework and 
Masterplan the design has benefited from 
both community consultation and also 
regular meetings with Aberdeen City 

Council.  

The document sets out a Development 
Framework and Design Guidance for  
Oldfold combining to form the Masterplan 
document. Its aim is to ensure that 
development of this site creates an 
attractive, well connected and vibrant new 
part of the town, providing a number of 
valuable benefits to the existing community 
of Milltimber. The document illustrates 
how development of the site must respect 
the sensitive landscape setting of the 
Deeside corridor and provide an attractive 
expansion to the existing settlement, 
creating a place that is in keeping with the 
distinct character along the North Deeside 
Road. 

The Masterplan document is set out in 
eight key sections:

1. The Masterplan Process

2. Site analysis

3. Technical studies

4. The vision

5. The Development Framework

6. Phasing and delivery

7. Design guidance

8. Consultation summary

The following pages give a brief description 
of the key information contained within 
these sections.

Aerial photo of the site area.

Page 27



pg. 3

1.  Masterplan Process
This section introduces the purpose of the 
Masterplan document.  It describes the site, 
the planning context and the development 
process to date.

The Masterplan describes the relevant 
planning background of the site prior to it 
being allocated within the Proposed Local 
Development Plan. Oldfold, is identified 
within the Aberdeen Local Development 
Plan (LDP) for 550 house units and 5ha of 
employment land.  The plan identifies the 
need for the site to be Masterplanned and 
lists the infrastructure required to support 
the development. The LDP envisages 
development in two phases, 2007-16 (400 
units) and 2017-26 (150 units).  The Council 
also requires a contribution of 25% of the 
units as affordable, in accordance with the 
City-wide policy.  The site also is to include 
a replacement Milltimber Primary School.  

The  document goes on to explain 
how the Development Framework and 
Masterplan have been developed following 
Aberdeen City Council’s ‘The Aberdeen 
Masterplanning Process, A Guide for 
Developers’ as well as with reference 
to other national and local policies. The 
masterplanning approach taken has been 
particularly important to ensure that the 
site realises the wider opportunities to 
create efficient and effective environmental 
and community connections that integrate 
the site both internally and with its 
surroundings, importantly with the existing 
settlement of Milltimber.

This section goes on to explain the 
promoters’ aspiration (subject to approval 
of the Development Framework and 
Masterplan document as Supplementary  
Guidance by Aberdeen City Council and 
completion of the necessary supporting 
studies) to make an application for Planning 
Permission in Principle. The application will 
comply with the guidance set down in the 
Supplementary Guidance.

This section also introduces the 
consultation process undertaken to date, 
with a full summary of the consultation 

process contained within Section 8 of the 
Masterplan.  The site at Oldfold provides an 
excellent opportunity to allow the existing 
community at Milltimber to have a say in 
how their town can grow sustainably in a 
well planned manner.

The design team believes that the 
Masterplan process has benefited greatly 
from meaningful consultation and 
involvement with the local community and 
stakeholders. The consultation undertaken 
to date has comprised a number of 
stakeholder workshops, meetings and 
presentations to the local community 
councils as well as two full day community 
exhibitions (June 2011 and November 2011). 
The comments and suggestions received 
from these events have fed directly into the 
evolution of the Development Framework 
and Masterplan.

A full record of the consultation process, 
including all comments and how it has 
informed the Development Framework 
and Masterplan is documented in a Pre-
Application Consultation Report which 
will be submitted with an application for 
Planning Permission in Principle for the 
site.

Community Consultation, Public Exhibition June 2009

Page 28



pg. 4

2.  Site Analysis
This section of the document illustrates 
the design team’s understanding of an 
expansion to Milltimber at Oldfold in a City, 
local and site context and explains how this 
has informed design proposals.

The site at present is used for agriculture, 
generally improved grazing, arable land 
and by a riding stables. The site comprises 
a series of relatively small fields defined by 
stone dykes and farm tracks.  There are no 
built or natural designations present on the 
site that would be affected by the proposed 
development.  The woodland at Den of 
Murtle adjacent to the site is designated as 
a Local Nature Conservation Site.  

The site analysis has identified the key site 
influences that will determine the location, 
shape and character of any development  
of the site area identified.  The analysis not 
only directs the shape of any development 
in this area, if respected it will allow the site 
to be developed with a unique character 
and ‘sense of place’.

3.  Technical Studies
To support and guide the production of 
the Masterplan a number of technical 
studies and reports have been completed, 
these include a Transport Assessment, 
Ecological Assessment and Surface Water 
Management strategy amongst others.

4.  The Vision
In line with the Aberdeen City Council 
‘Masterplanning Process’ the Masterplan 
describes CALA’s vision for the expansion 
of Milltimber at Oldfold.

CALA aims to develop an expansion to 
Milltimber at Oldfold in a manner that 
reflects the quality associated with the 
North Deeside area, both in the quality 
of homes provided but also in the quality 
of environment.  Oldfold will provide new 
homes in one of the most desirable parts 
of the Aberdeen, a high quality place to 
live on the edge of the city.

CALA has high expectations for the site 
at Oldfold.  To create a successful urban 
expansion at Milltimber, the aspects that 
make the site unique and attractive must 
be brought to the fore, the distinct features 
and characteristics of the site, and must be 
articulated through the design to create 
a distinctive new community with a clear 
identity and sense of place.

Oldfold will be a place in which the houses, 
streets and outdoor spaces all combine to 
reflect the high standards and aspirations 
of not only CALA but also the Council and 
the existing residents of Milltimber.

Approach to development Development concept

Page 29



pg. 5pg. 5

Oldfold - Development Framework (for annotations and legend refer to final Masterplan document).

5.  The Development Framework
The purpose of this Section is to describe 
the concept for the site and how the main 
aims will be realised through site wide 
design principles and illustrated through a 
Development Framework. 

This Section describes how the 
Development Framework has evolved 
from an analysis and appreciation of the 
site and its strategic and local context.  It 
explains how in line with the Aberdeen 
City Council ‘Masterplanning Process’ the 
Development Framework sets out a basic 
two dimensional spatial framework for the 
way in which the site will be developed. 
It creates a co-ordinating structure which 
sets a robust and viable vision for Oldfold 
from which more detailed design can 
follow.  The Development Framework is 
intended to: 

Establish a clear and exciting future 
vision for Oldfold;

Provide a clear and comprehensive 
spatial framework that describes how 
the site is intended to be developed;

Describe and explain the integrated 
land-use, landscape and transport 
proposals;

Set out a clear phasing strategy;

Layers of the Framework
The  document describes the core principles 
of development at Oldfold, the location and 
purpose of the elements that make up the 
Development Framework. These principles  
are described and explained under the 
following six headings: 

Part of Milltimber

Access and Connectivity - Path Network

Access and Connectivity - Street 
Network

Landscape Framework

Development Blocks

Drainage Strategy

Page 30



pg. 6

Part of Milltimber
Creating a sustainable urban expansion 
that fits within the overall town structure 
of Milltimber while reflecting the unique 
character of the site has been a key 
consideration in the concept for development 
at Oldfold.  This section describes how 
the various parts of the Development 
Framework will combine to achieve the aims 
set out above, integrating Oldfold as part of 
Milltimber.

Access and Connectivity - Paths
The Development Framework has been 
designed to actively encourage walking, 
cycling and use of public transport. A 
network of pedestrian routes, cycleways and 
new bus routes has been identified. As part 
of the path network provision the Framework 
will provide an important part  of the wider 
Aspirational Path AP10 within the site.

All of the proposed properties and the 
majority of existing properties in Milltimber 
are within 800m of the proposed mixed use 
core and new primary school.  Pedestrian 
connectivity to these has been considered 
as a priority with a further potential bus 
loop also identified within the site with all 
proposed properties within 400m of a 
potential bus stop.

Access and Connectivity - Streets
The principal vehicular connection to the 
street network will be provided to A93, North 
Deeside Road with further connections to 
Binghill Road.  The principle of access to 
the site from the A93 via a new junction has 
been established in the LDP and through the 
masterplanning process the design team has 
been considering a number of options for 
the design of the junction, informed by the 
on-going Transport Assessment. 

Street design has been considered and 
designed following Designing Streets, 
Policy Statement for Scotland. In addition 
to the core streets defined it is anticipated 
that there will be further streets, lanes 
and shared surfaces within Development 
Blocks with these also being designed in 
accordance with ‘Designing Streets’ policy 
and appropriate standards/requirements of 
Aberdeen City Council.

Landscape Framework
Usable, well-designed, public space is 
recognised as creating opportunities for 
communities to interact, promoting a sense 
of place and helping to promote healthy 
active lifestyles.  This section describes 
how and where public open spaces will be 
provided within the development and how 
the provision meets Aberdeen City Council 
standards, including the requirements of 
the Aberdeen City Council - Open Space 
Interim Supplementary Guidance.

Development Blocks
Areas for residential development, mixed 
use development and the proposed new 
primary school are identified (illustrated on 
the plan opposite). Within the document 
a proposed number of residential units is 
described for each block. Over the entire 
site this presents 550 residential units 
(including affordable housing) across 
a range of densities.  The Development 
Framework will provide a mix of building 
typologies and tenures to help create a 
diverse and inclusive community structure. 

Within the Development Framework a 
location for a mixed use local centre which 
could accommodate support services 
for the new and existing communities at 
Milltimber has been identified.  A site for a 
new primary school has also been identified 
as part of the local centre.  The location of 
the primary school, and associated  mixed 
use facilities has been selected to enable 
it to serve both the proposed and existing 
wider community of Milltimber. Located 
together at the centre of the existing 
and proposed communities, close to the 
existing Church and Community Centre, all 
the proposed homes and the majority of 
existing homes are within a 800m walk of 
these community resources.

Drainage Strategy
The surface water drainage requirements 
for the Oldfold site have been investigated 
with interested stakeholders. Based on 
current development guidance the site will 
be drained via an approved Sustainable 
Urban Drainage System (SUDs).

Page 31



7.  Design Guidance
The Masterplan takes the principles set out 
in the Development Framework section 
of the document and develops these 
to provide detailed three dimensional 
guidance.

This Section of the document looks at how 
the key design principles that underpin the 
Development Framework will help character 
evolve, reflecting the combination of all 
the principles set out in this document 
to create an attractive new part of 
Milltimber. This guidance will therefore 
assist the developers and their designers, 
in preparing future detailed applications at 
later stages in the development process.  It 
will identify the core design principles and 
character defining elements for a number 
of character areas, buildings, spaces and 
routes that when combined will allow the 
development concept identified within the 
Development Framework to be realised.

6.  Phasing Strategy
An indicative phasing strategy is 
presented in the document to  ensure 
that the build-up of the new community 
is achieved in a coherent and logical way 
with the ability for each phase to function 
independently prior to subsequent phases 
being delivered. The overall approach to 
phasing is integrated; in each phase open 
space provision, streets, services and 
development are included as appropriate. 
On completion of the development all 
phases will combine, fulfilling the  aims of 
the Masterplan to create a well structured 
and cohesive, accessible place in line with 
the aims of the Local Development Plan.

Infrastructure Delivery
The Infrastructure Delivery Statement 
summarises the requirements of the 
proposed Local Development Plan and 
describes, what, how, when and with whom 
these will be delivered.

Oldfold - Urban design principles (for annotations and legend refer to final Masterplan document).

Page 32



pg. 8

Character Areas.Part of Milltimber.

Creating Character
In order to ensure that development at 
Oldfold has a rich and legible character, the 
Development Framework is then broken 
down in to character areas.

The guidance for each area is written to 
focus on the key generators of character, 
which include key routes, buildings, edges, 
spaces, uses, and articulate the main design 
intent. This design guidance considers 
inter-relationships and connectivity of 
different areas in terms of design and visual 
appearance.

The design guidance described in this 
Section is not intended as a blueprint to 
be followed rigidly – it should be used 
as reference to stimulate discussion and 
control the quality of design by interpreting 
and applying the principles.  This guidance 
should be considered when dealing with 
future detailed applications.

The design guidance for Oldfold is 
described through four levels: 

General Design Guidance
Principles of good urban design that should 
be followed as a matter of course in the 
development of Oldfold.

Strategic Design Principles
Specific design principles that apply to the 
whole Development Framework area.  This 
should be followed to help shape the urban 
expansion into a unique and desirable 
place to live.

Layers Of The Masterplan
This Section describes the aims and 
parameters of the proposals by breaking 
the Development Framework into its 
constituent parts. These layers illustrate 
key concepts of the Masterplan and how 
they respond to both the existing site and 
the Development Framework. Following 
the principles set out in these layers will 
ensure that the Oldfold integrates with 
both Milltimber and the existing landscape.

A - Binghill

B- North Deeside Road

C- Den of Murtle

D - Oldfold

E - Murtle Park

F- Murtle Den

A.

C.

E.

F.

400m

800m

B.

Page 33



pg. 9

North Deeside Road

The North Deeside Road area is very 
important to the overall character of  
Oldfold Farm as it is the only part of the 
site viewed from the A93 and forms an 
important ‘gateway’ to the extended 
Milltimber.

Binghill Road

The character of the western boundary, 
specifically the Binghill Road area, is 
of particular importance as it forms 
the interface between the existing and 
proposed communities and offers the only 
opportunity to integrate with the existing 
settlement.

Character Areas.  The site analysis and review has led to the identification of six 
distinct character areas within the development that have shaped and informed the 
scale, layout  and character of the proposed development. These are;

Oldfold

The Oldfold area is the largest character 
area of the development and generally 
will have a higher residential density than 
the character areas to the north and east 
which require sensitive treatment to the 
surrounding landscape.  As a result the key 
character forming elements are streets and 
spaces.

Den of Murtle

Den of Murtle Hilltop Park ensures that  
development does not encroach on the 
higher, more visually prominent land and 
allows for the largest area of informal public 
open space within Oldfold to be created.

Interface with Binghill Road.

North Deeside Road Character Area.

Illustration of Oldfold Square, Oldfold.

Illustration of Hilltop Park, Den of Murtle.

Page 34



pg. 10

Summary

The development and refinement of 
the Masterplan has been the essential 
first stage of the process of creating 
a long term, sustainable extension to 
Milltimber.  This will happen over many 
years as the houses and other facilities 
will take time to plan, build and mature.  
Once the Masterplan has been adopted 
as Supplementary Guidance, a series of 
planning applications will follow, starting 
early in 2012 with an application for 
Planning Permission in Principle for the 
entire site.  Only once this is approved 
by the Council, will a series of detailed 
applications start, to show how different 
phases of the land then will be developed 
in line with the ‘Principle’ consent.  A 
proper community can only be created 
over many years however here we 
have the advantage of the Oldfold site 
being part of the existing community 
of Milltimber and we are working hard 
to make sure that the new sites can be 
absorbed and embraced by the current 
community.

Murtle Park and Murtle Den

The character of Murtle Park is very 
important as to how the development  
should address the eastern boundary to 
the existing Murtle Den area. This area will 
be defined by the avenue type street that 
runs almost the full length of the Murtle Den 
boundary.  Development plots to the east 
should back on to the structural woodland 
acting to protect the setting and privacy of 
the Murtle Den properties.

The character of the Murtle Den area 
should replicate the existing housing to the 
south.  Very large detached plots set within 
mixed woodland and accessed from the 
existing driveway.  Development should be 
limited in this area to respect the existing 
character and environmental aspects.  New 
woodland should be planted in advance 
of development to provide the setting for 
future development.

8. Consultation Summary

Section 8 of the document contains a 
full summary of the consultation process, 
including a detailed description of all the 
meetings, workshops and exhibitions 
carried out throughout the masterplanning 
process. It includes a summary of responses 
and comments made at each of the events. 

A full record of the consultation process, 
including all comments and how they have 
informed the Development Framework 
and Masterplan will be documented in a 
Pre-Application Consultation Report which 
will be submitted with an application for 
Planning Permission in Principle for the 
site.

Interface of Murtle Park and Murtle Den character areas.

Illustration of Murtle Park avenue.

Page 35



Page 36



Agenda Item 2(C)

Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



Page 51



Page 52



Page 53



Page 54



Page 55



Page 56



Page 57



Page 58



Page 59



Page 60

This page is intentionally left blank



P140130  1 
 

Signed (authorised Officer(s)): 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

13 & 15 CHAPEL STREET, ABERDEEN 
 

CHANGE OF USE FROM RETAIL (CLASS 1) 
TO BUSINESS (CLASS 4) AND ALTERATIONS 
TO GROUND FLOOR FRONTAGE    
 

For: Knight Property Group 
 

Application Type : Detailed Planning Permission 
Application Ref. :  P140130 
Application Date : 21/02/2014 
Advert   :  
Advertised on :  
Officer   : Sally Wood 
Creation Date : 28 March 2014 
Ward: Midstocket/Rosemount (B Cormie/J 
Laing/F Forsyth) 
Community Council: No response received 
 

RECOMMENDATION:   
 

Refuse 
 

DESCRIPTION 
 

The application site is located on the corner of Thistle Street and Chapel Street, 
and relates to two ground floor units which are currently occupied by retailers 
(Class 1 use).  The applicant currently occupies unit 11 Chapel Street at the 
ground floor, which provides an entrance and reception area to the upper floors. 
The upper three floors are used as serviced office facilities.   
 

The boundary of the Union Street Conservation Area lies immediately to the 
south of 5 Chapel Street, some 12 metres from the application site boundary. 
 

The building is not listed. 
 

RELEVANT HISTORY 
 

130952 Removal of existing shopfront and stall riser, and replacement with new 
fully glazed shopfront. Granted unconditionally, 02.08.2013*. 
 

*That consent does not allow for a change of use, which appears to have occurred at 
ground floor level, which is a separate consideration, outwith the remit of this application. 
 

PROPOSAL 
 

The application seeks detailed planning permission for the change of use of unit 
13 Chapel Street, which is currently occupied by a charity shop, and unit 15 

Agenda Item 3(A)

Page 61



P140130  2 
 

Chapel Street which is currently occupied by a clothes shop.  This application 
relates to the ground floor units only. 
 

The application also seeks detailed planning permission for alterations to the 
shopfront which would remove the entrances into units 13 and 15, and replace 
them with new shopfront with stallrisers.  The units would only be accessed 
internally from the adjacent ground floor unit at number 11. 
 

Supporting Documents 
 

All drawings and the supporting documents listed below relating to this 
application can be viewed on the Council’s website at -   
http://planning.aberdeencity.gov.uk/PlanningDetail.asp?ref=140130 
On accepting the disclaimer enter the application reference quoted on the first 
page of this report. 
 

1. The applicant has submitted a supporting statement by Ryden (received 
21.03.14) which sets out their reasons for why the application should be 
supported. 
 

CONSULTATIONS 
 
Roads Projects Team - The parking requirement is almost the same as the 
present situation therefore no additional parking spaces would be required and 
moreover the development lies in a city centre and in a control parking zone. The 
proposal would not have any effect on parking.  
 
In accordance with Supplementary Guidance, the proposal must include a 
minimum of 4 cycle long stay stands within an enclosed secure lockable 
compound or within the building.  Request that the applicant revises their design 
to include this requirement. 
Environmental Health – comments, no observations.  
Enterprise, Planning & Infrastructure (Flooding)- comments, no observations. 
Community Council – no comments received. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
None. 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Policy and Guidance  
 

Scottish Planning Policy 
 

Page 62



P140130  3 
 

Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) seeks to promote appropriate development, 
particularly within existing settlements. It seeks high quality development that is 
sympathetic to its setting and takes into consideration amenity. 
 
Town centres are a key element of the economic and social fabric of Scotland, 
acting as centres of employment and services for local communities and a focus 
for civic activity, and make an important contribution to sustainable economic 
growth. Town centres should be the focus for a mix of uses including retail, 
leisure, entertainment, recreation, cultural and community facilities, as well as 
homes and businesses. Retail and leisure uses are fundamental to the 
concentration of other activities located in town centres and planning authorities 
should support a diverse range of community and commercial activities in town 
centres (para. 52). 
 
The planning system has a significant role in supporting successful town centres 
through its influence on the type, siting and design of development (para. 57). 
 
All retail, leisure and related developments should be accessible by walking, 
cycling and public transport. (para. 61). 
 
Aberdeen City and Shire Structure Plan  
 

Provides a spatial strategy for development, to ensure the right development in 
the right place to achieve sustainable economic growth which is of high quality 
and protects valued resources and assets, including built and natural 
environment, which is easily accessible. 
 
Aberdeen Local Development Plan 
 
Policy D1 - Architecture and Placemaking 
 
Ensures that high standards of design are achieved through a number of 
considerations, including context, to ensure that the setting of the proposed 
development and its design is acceptable. 
 
Policy C2 – City Centre Business Zone and Union Street  
 
Proposals for a change of use from retail (Class 1 of the Use Classes Order) to 
other uses within the City Centre Business Zone will only be acceptable if :  
 
ii) in other parts of the City Centre Business Zone (i.e. not on Union Street) it can 
be demonstrated that there is a lack of demand for continued retail use of the 
premises (applicants may be required to demonstrate what efforts have been 
made to secure a new retail use since the property became vacant) and how the 
new use contributes to the wider aims for city centre enhancement; and  

Page 63



P140130  4 
 

• the proposed new use must enhance or adequately maintain daytime vitality, 
and an active street frontage; and 
• the alternative use does not conflict with the amenity of the neighbouring area. 
 
Policy T2 - Managing the Transport Impact of Development  
 
New developments will need to demonstrate that sufficient measures have been 
taken to minimise the traffic generated. Maximum car parking standards are set 
out in Supplementary Guidance on Transport and Accessibility. 
 
Policy R6 - Waste Management Requirements for New Developments  
 
There should be sufficient space for the storage of residual, recyclable and 
compostable wastes. It should accord with Supplementary Guidance on Waste 
Management. 
 
EVALUATION 
 
Sections 25 and 37(2) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as 
amended) require that where, in making any determination under the planning 
acts, regard is to be had to the provisions of the development plan and that 
determination shall be made in accordance with the plan, so far as material to the 
application, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Principle 
 
Both units subject to this planning application currently fall within use Class 1 – 
Retail, and are currently in use by retailers.  The site lies within the City Centre as 
identified in the Local Development Plan. On that basis, it is considered that 
Policy C2 (City Centre Business Zone and Union Street) is the most applicable 
policy relating to principle.  It states that, in other parts of the City Centre 
Business Zone (i.e. outwith Union Street) if it can be demonstrated that there is a 
lack of demand for continued retail use of the premises (applicants may be 
required to demonstrate what efforts have been made to secure a new retail use 
since the property became vacant) and how the new use contributes to the wider 
aims for city centre enhancement; and  
• the proposed new use must enhance or adequately maintain daytime vitality, 
and an active street frontage; and  
• the alternative use does not conflict with the amenity of the neighbouring area. 
 
The units have not been marketed at all, and are both occupied.  On that basis it 
is considered that the application fails on the first element of the policy as it has 
not been demonstrated that there is a lack of demand for continued retail use of 
the premises.  It is judged that the loss of these two units would undermine the 
retail frontage of Chapel Street.    
 

Page 64



P140130  5 
 

The application is supported by a written statement that notes that the existing 
adjacent unit (11) and upper floors have been leased to Bluesky Business Space 
since October 2013, “who have leased the entire space to Statoil (UK) Limited”, 
who will use the space as their head office in Aberdeen until 2016.  The 
statement notes that Statoil currently employs 100 people (approximately) and 
that this continues to arise to about 10 per month, and therefore the company 
has a pressing need for additional accommodation.  It states that the company 
wish to remain within the city centre but there is a lack of office space.  
 
The statement notes that the retail unit at 15 Chapel Street “has not been trading 
particularly well…it is likely they will come out of the unit sooner rather than later”.  
“The lease on the charity shop at 13 Chapel Street is also due to expire soon”.  It 
further notes that allowing the change of use would ensure retention of the 
existing staff in the city centre and provide room for an additional 42 staff. 
 
The supporting statement considers that allowing the change of use would not 
only retain existing staff but would also introduce additional employees within the 
west end which would be beneficial to the existing class 1, 2 and 3 uses within 
the local area.  It considers that the use would increase footfall as staff would 
contribute to the evening economy, unlike the existing retail uses which trade for 
a limited period throughout the day.  Furthermore, it considers that the proposed 
use caters for a local need, that the conversion is not speculative but sought to 
address the urgent requirement of an existing business within the city centre. 
 
The statement contends that planning policies R3 and R4 and their footnote are 
relevant.  The supporting statement considers that in light of their comments, the 
application be amended to permit a temporary change of use for a limited time 
period until the end of 2016.  However, it is noted that in correspondence from 
the applicant that they sought a temporary consent for 5 years when asked for 
further information relating to the marketing of the property as required by 
planning policy (e-mail 11.03.2014). 
 
In response to the main points of the supporting statement by Ryden, planning 
policy does not allow for temporary changes of use.  A temporary change of use 
for more than two years would remove these units from active retail use.  The 
supporting statement refers to planning policy R3 and R4, of which there are no 
such policies within the Development Plan.  It is considered it is meant to refer to 
RT3 (Town, District and Neighbourhood Centres) and RT4 (Local Shops), which 
are not directly relevant.  However, a ‘Note’ within the Development Plan states 
that proposals for change of use where lack of demand is a factor should provide 
evidence that the property has been actively marked for six months or more, and 
it specifically refers in brackets to policies RT3 and RT4, whereas planning policy 
C2 specifically states proposals for change of use from retail to other uses will 
only be acceptable if…“It can be demonstrated that there is a lack of demand for 
continued retail use of the premises (applicants may be required to demonstrate 
what efforts have been made to secure a new retail use since the property 

Page 65



P140130  6 
 

became vacant) and how the new use contributes to the wider aims for city 
centre enhancement”.  The property has not been marketed at all, and it is 
considered 6 months would be reasonable in line with the planning policy ‘note’ 
pertaining to RT3 and RT4.  It is considered that the proposal fails to comply with 
planning policy C2 as it emphasises what steps have been undertaken to secure 
a retail occupier following vacancy, whereas in this case neither of the units are 
vacant, they are both in operation. 
 
There is no evidence submitted that the applicant’s client Statoil has been flexible 
in their approach to acquiring additional office space and what other units have 
been considered which demonstrates a lack of office space within the city.  The 
change of use of these two units subject to this application are not considered 
insignificant, and there is real concern that any other use than retail could 
undermine the existing retailers, and change the dynamics of this part of Chapel 
Street.  There is no evidence that these units are no longer required for retail 
uses, which are both currently occupied.  If the application were to be approved it 
may result in the loss of the opportunity for retail investment and could contribute 
to the cumulative loss of retail uses from this sector even if granted for a 
temporary period until end of 2016, which is some 33 months away. 
 
Given the prominent location of the premises on this part of Chapel Street it is 
considered important, in terms of vitality, that a use which retains active display 
windows and physical sale of goods is retained. As class 4 uses are 
characterised by a tendency to have restricted window displays and no on site 
sale of physical goods, it is considered that the proposed use would result in the 
detriment to the vitality of the shopping centre contrary to the objectives of local 
plan policy. 
 
Design 
 
The external alterations to the shopfront are considered acceptable, although it 
should be noted that if approved would mean that units 13 and 15 would not 
have their own individual entrances.  The supporting statement from Ryden 
requests that a temporary consent is granted until end of 2016, but the external 
alterations would mean that future conversion would be more problematic, and 
could put retailers off as the units would not have an independent entry. 
 
It is noted that the submitted existing elevations are inaccurate in terms of the 
two units, but it is considered that this has not adversely impacted on this 
assessment. 
 
Other 
 
It is considered that cycle parking spaces could be secured by condition.  In 
addition, it is considered that there would be sufficient space for waste and 

Page 66



P140130  7 
 

recycling facilities.  The proposal is judged not to be in conflict with planning 
policies T2 or R6 of the Aberdeen Local Development Plan. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The fact that the premises are currently occupied, located within a prominent 
location (a corner location) on Chapel Street and currently used for purposes 
which actively contribute to the vitality of the shopping centre are material 
considerations which weigh against the current proposal.  No evidence of 
marketing of the unit has been provided, and was requested. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
Refuse 
 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
The proposed use conflicts with Planning Policy C2 (City Centre Business Zone 
and Union Street) of the adopted Aberdeen Local Development Plan.  The units 
are in occupation and no evidence has been submitted of their marketing to 
demonstrate that there is a lack of demand for continued retail use of the 
premises.  The application site includes two retail units, one of which is 
considered to be in a prominent location on Chapel Street by virtue of its corner 
siting, and their relationship with other adjacent retail uses.  Any change of use 
could undermine the viability of retail in this west end locality.   
 
The proposed use could result in detriment to the vitality and potential viability of 
the shopping centre by the absence of a live frontage / window display and the 
lack of activity within the premises when compared to the existing authorised 
uses.  
 
No adequate reasons for setting aside the above policies and guidance have 
been identified and the other material considerations do not justify approval of the 
proposal. 
 
Approval of this application would result in an undesirable precedent for similar 
proposals that would cause further erosion of retail uses, conflict with the 
Development Plan and would cause further detriment to the vitality and potential 
viability of the shopping centre. 

Page 67



Page 68

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy D1 – Architecture and Placemaking 
 
To ensure high standards of design, new development must be designed with 
due consideration for its context and make a positive contribution to its 
setting.  Factors such as siting, scale, massing, colour, materials, orientation, 
details, the proportions of building elements, together with the spaces around 
buildings, including streets, squares, open space, landscaping and boundary 
treatments, will be considered in assessing that contribution. 
 
To ensure that there is a consistent approach to high quality development 
thropughout the City with an emphasis on creating quality places, the 
Aberdeen Masterplannign Process Supplementary Guidance will be applied. 
 
The level of detail required will be appropriate to the scale and sensitivity of 
the site.  The full scope will be agreed with us prior to commencement. 
 
Landmark or high buildings should respect the height and scale of their 
surroundings, the urban topography, the City’s skyline and aim to preserve or 
enhance important views. 
 

Agenda Item 3(B)

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy C2 – City Centre Business Zone and Union Street 
 
The City Centre Business Zone is the preferred location for major retail 
developments as defined in Policy RT1.  Where sites are not available in the 
City Centre Business Zone, then sites elsewhere in the City Centre may be 
appropriate. 
 
Proposals for a change of use from retail (Class 1 of the Use Classes Order) 
to other uses within the City Centre Business Zone will only be acceptable if: 
 

(1) the proposal is in Union Street it must accord with the Union Street 
Frontages Supplementary Guideline 

(2) in other parts of the City Centre Business Zone it can be demonstrated 
that there is a lack of demand for continued retail use of the premises 
(applicants may be required to demonstrate what efforts have been 
made to secure a new retail use since the property became vacant) 
and how the new use contributes to the wider aims for city centre 
enhancement; and 

• the proposed new use must enhance or adequately maintain 
daytime vitality, and an active street frontage; and 

• the alternative use does not conflict with the amenity of the 
neighbouring area. 

 
Proposals to use basement and upper floor levels for retail, residential and 
other appropriate purposes will be encouraged in principle. 

Page 71



Page 72

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy T2 – Managing the Transport Impact of Development 
 
New developments will need to demonstrate that sufficuent measures have 
been taken to minimise the traffic generated. 
 
Transport Assessments and Travel Plans will be required for developments 
which exceed the thresholds set out in the Transport and Accessibility 
Supplementary Guidance.  Planning conditions and/or legal agreements may 
be imposed to bind the targets set out in the Travel Plan and set the 
arrangements for monitoring, enforcement and review. 
 
Maximum car parking standards are set out in Supplementary Guidance on 
Transport and Accessibility and detail the standards that different types of 
development should provide. 

Page 73



Page 74

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy R6 – Waste Management Requirements for New Development 
 
Housing developments should have sufficient space for the storage of 
residual, recyclable and compostable wastes.  Flatted developments will 
require communal facilities that allow for the separate storage and collection 
of these materials.  Recycling facilities should be provided in all new 
superstores or large supermarkets and in other developments where 
appropriate.  Details of storage facilities and means of collection must be 
included as part of any planning application for development which would 
generate waste. 
 
Further details are set out in the Supplementary Guidance on Waste 
Management. 

Page 75



Page 76

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 3(C)

Page 77



Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Page 93



Page 94



Page 95



Page 96



Page 97



Page 98



Page 99



Page 100



Page 101



Page 102



Page 103



Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



Page 115



Page 116



Page 117



Page 118



Page 119



Page 120



Page 121



Page 122



Page 123



Page 124



Page 125



Page 126



Page 127



Page 128



Page 129



Page 130



Page 131



Page 132



Page 133



Page 134



Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Page 141



Page 142



Page 143



Page 144



Page 145



Page 146



Page 147



Page 148



Page 149



Page 150



Page 151



Page 152



Page 153



Page 154



Page 155



Page 156



Page 157



Page 158



Page 159



Page 160



Page 161



Page 162



Page 163



Page 164



Page 165



Page 166



Page 167



Page 168



Page 169



Page 170



Page 171



Page 172



Page 173



Page 174



Page 175



Page 176



Page 177



Page 178



Page 179



Page 180



Page 181



Page 182



Page 183



Page 184



Page 185



Page 186



Page 187



Page 188



Page 189



Page 190



Page 191



Page 192



Page 193



Page 194



Page 195



Page 196



Page 197



Page 198



Page 199



Page 200



Page 201



Page 202



Page 203



Page 204



Page 205



Page 206



Page 207



Page 208



Page 209



Page 210



Page 211



Page 212



Page 213



Page 214



Page 215



Page 216



Page 217



Page 218



Page 219



Page 220



Page 221



Page 222



Page 223



Page 224



Page 225



Page 226

This page is intentionally left blank



Signed (authorised Officer(s)): 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

44 BEDFORD ROAD, KITTYBREWSTER 
 
PROPOSED 8 FLATTED DEVELOPMENT 
WITH ASSOCIATED CAR PARKING.     
 
For: ASA Ltd 
 
Application Type : Detailed Planning 
Permission 
Application Ref. :  P140090 
Application Date : 23/01/2014 
Advert   : Can't notify 
neighbour(s) 
Advertised on : 12/02/2014 
Officer   : Gavin Evans 
Creation Date : 28 March 2014 
Ward: George Street/Harbour (A May/J 
Morrison/N Morrison) 
Community Council: No response received 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Refuse 
 
 
DESCRIPTION 
 
The application site is located on the eastern side of Bedford Road, at its junction 
with Bedford Place. The site extends to 292sqm and represents the existing plot 
of 44 Bedford Road, a 2 ½ storey end-terrace building of traditional granite 
construction, which incorporates a small newsagent/grocer at ground floor level 
and box-dormers in its roof space. To the rear of the building lies an area of 
garden ground, set approximately 1m below the level of Bedford Place and 
enclosed by a granite rubble boundary wall measuring 1.2m from pavement level. 
The rear of the site appears neglected and overgrown, with no notable trees or 
landscaping beyond overgrown shrubs and apparently self-seeded saplings. The 
boundary to the adjoining property at 42 Bedford Road is defined by a boundary 
wall of approximately 1.2m, of brick construction. 
 
The northern side of Bedford Place is characterised by 1 ½ storey, mansard 
roofed terraces of dwellinghouses. Immediately opposite the application site is a 
more recent row of 2-storey terraced houses, fronted with synthetic granite block. 
The southern side of Bedford Place is largely similar, however 2 ½ storey 
tenement-style blocks are present at the junctions of Bedford Place and streets 
running south-west. The blank gable of one such block abuts the south-eastern 
end of the application site. 

Agenda Item 4(A)

Page 227



 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 
Recent planning history at 44 Bedford Road is limited to applications for the 
replacement of windows in 1996 and alterations to a top floor flat in 1990, neither 
of which is considered to be of direct relevance to the current proposal.  
 
PROPOSAL 
 
This application seeks detailed planning permission for the construction of a new 
4-storey building within the rear garden of 44 Bedford Road, for the provision of 8 
new 2-bed flats. The building would face onto Bedford Place, with 8no car 
parking spaces provided beneath the building in a sub-level and private garden 
grounds laid out to the north-western side of the building. 
 
The building’s walls would be finished with a combination of natural granite and 
wetdash-style render, with the roof finished in grey concrete roof tiles. 
 
 
Supporting Documents 
 
All drawings and the supporting documents listed below relating to this 
application can be viewed on the Council’s website at -   
http://planning.aberdeencity.gov.uk/PlanningDetail.asp?130914 

On accepting the disclaimer enter the application reference quoted on the first 
page of this report. 
 
 
CONSULTATIONS 
 
Roads Projects Team – Identifies a shortfall of 8 car parking spaces, likely to 
give rise to parking in the area, where demand for residential parking is 
particularly high at night. Notes that the specifications of the access to the car 
park, the aisle width and parking bay dimensions are do not meet the necessary 
standards. Notes that no swept-path analysis has been provided. Further 
information is required in relation to drainage arrangements. The proposed 
development, if granted planning permission, would be required to make financial 
contributions towards the Strategic Transport Fund, at a rate of £1,652 per unit, 
totalling £13,216. Unless these matters are addressed, the Council’s Roads 
Projects Team would object to the proposal. 
Environmental Health – No objection, but recommend that a condition be attach 
requiring appropriate provision for the refuse storage and disposal, including 
recycling facilities. Recommend that an informative be noted on any consent 
granted, detailing appropriate hours of construction, due to the residential 
character of the area. 

Page 228



Enterprise, Planning & Infrastructure (Flooding) -  Requests that the receiving 
watercourse/sewer be identified, and that the term ‘soil sewer’ be clarified. 
Community Council – No comments received. 
Police Scotland (Architectural Liaison Officer) – Discourages recessed 
entrance. Recommends fencing or railings at street level to provide protection to 
ground floor windows. Notes that gates to the ‘courtyard garden’ of 42 Bedford 
Road should be lockable. Highlights absence of natural surveillance for 
undercroft parking – access should be controlled via shuttering, and bin store 
located outwith secure area. 
Developer Contributions Team – Notes that local schools have capacity, and 
therefore education contributions are not warranted. Identifies requirement for 
contributions in respect of community facilities, sports facilities, library and core 
paths network. Notes that commuted sum in lieu of on-site affordable housing 
provision will be appropriate in this instance. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS 
 
No letters of representation have been submitted to the planning authority in 
respect of this application for planning permission.  
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
National Policy and Guidance 
 
Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) 
Paragraph 82 of SPP highlights the important contribution that infill sites within 
existing settlements can make to the supply of housing land. It further states that 
infill sites should respect the scale, form and density of the surroundings and 
enhance the character and amenity of the community.  
 
Aberdeen Local Development Plan (ALDP) 
 
I1: Infrastructure Delivery and Developer Contributions 
Sets out that development shall be accompanied by infrastructure, services and 
facilities required to support new or expanded communities. Where development 
would place additional demands on community facilities or infrastructure that 
would necessitate new facilities or exacerbate deficiencies in existing provision, 
the Council will require the developer to meet or contribute to the cost of 
providing or improving such facilities or facilities as necessary. 
 
Policy T2: Managing the Transport Impact of Development 
New developments will need to demonstrate that sufficient measures have been 
taken to minimise the traffic generated. 
 

Page 229



Maximum car parking standards are set out in Supplementary Guidance on 
Transport and Accessibility and detail the standards that different types of 
development should provide. 
 
Policy D1: Architecture and Placemaking 
To ensure high standards of design, new development must be designed with 
due consideration for its context and make a positive contribution to its setting. 
Factors such as siting, scale, massing, colour, materials, orientation, details, the 
proportions of building elements, together with the spaces around buildings, 
including streets, squares, open space, landscaping and boundary treatments, 
will be considered in assessing that contribution. 
 
Policy D2: Design and Amenity 
Policy D2 sets out a series of criteria for new development, intended to ensure 
that an appropriate level of amenity can be secured for residents of both that new 
development and neighbouring land and buildings. These criteria include 
residential development being designed with a public face to a street and a 
private face to an enclosed garden or court; appropriate privacy being provided 
for; the provision of areas for sitting out, such as private gardens, communal 
gardens, balconies etc; and that development proposals should include 
measures to ‘design out’ crime and ‘design in’ safety.  
 
D3: Sustainable and Active Travel 
New development will be designed in order to minimise travel by private car, 
improve access to services and promote healthy lifestyles by encouraging active 
travel. 
 
Policy H1: Residential Areas 
The site lies within a designated Residential Area (H1), as defined in the 
Aberdeen Local Development Plan. Within such areas Policy H1 of the ALDP 
will apply, requiring that residential development will be acceptable in principle 
provided it satisfies certain specified criteria. The criteria relevant to assessment 
of this proposal are as follows: 
 

1. It does not constitute over-development 
2. It would not have an unacceptable impact on the character or amenity of 

the surrounding area 
3. It would not result I the loss of valuable and valued areas of open space. 
4. It would comply with the Council’s Supplementary Guidance in relation to 

the Sub-division and Redevelopment of Residential Curtilages. 
 
It is further stated that non-residential uses will be refused unless (a) they are 
considered complementary to residential use; or (b) it can be demonstrated that 
the use would cause no conflict with, or any nuisance to, the enjoyment of 
existing residential amenity. 
 

Page 230



Policy H3: Density 
The City Council will seek an appropriate density of development on all housing 
allocations and windfall sites. 
 
H5: Affordable Housing 
Housing Developments of five units or more are required to contribute no less 
than 25% of the total number of units as affordable housing. Further guidance in 
the relevant Affordable Housing Supplementary Guidance. 
 
R6: Waste Management Requirements for New Development 
Housing developments should have sufficient space for the storage of residual 
recyclable and compostable wastes. Flatted developments will require communal 
facilities that allow for the separate storage and collection of these materials. 
Recycling facilities should be provided in all new supermarkets and in other 
developments where appropriate. Details of storage facilities and means of 
collection must be included as part of any planning application for development 
which would generate waste. 
 
Further details are set out in Supplementary Guidance on Waste Management. 
 
Policy R7: Low and Zero Carbon Buildings 
All new buildings, in meeting building regulations energy requirements, must 
install low and zero carbon generating technologies to reduce the predicted 
carbon dioxide emissions by at least 15% below the 2007 building standards. 
This percentage requirement will be increased as specified in Supplementary 
Guidance. 
 
Supplementary Guidance 
‘Low and Zero Carbon Buildings’; ‘Transport and Accessibility’, ‘Waste 
Management’ and ‘Sub-division and Redevelopment of Residential Curtilages’ 
documents are of relevance. 
 
Other Relevant Material Considerations 
The matters raised in representations are material to the assessment of this 
application, so far as they relate to legitimate planning considerations.  
 
 
EVALUATION 
Sections 25 and 37(2) of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as 
amended) require that where, in making any determination under the planning 
acts, regard is to be had to the provisions of the development plan and that 
determination shall be made in accordance with the plan, so far as material to the 
application, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Principle of residential use & Zoning 

Page 231



The application site is located within a predominantly residential area, which has 
been zoned as such in the Local Development Plan, with policy H1 applicable. 
Policy H1 allows for residential development, provided a series of criteria can be 
satisfied. There is significant overlap between these criteria and the principles set 
out in the ‘Sub-division and Redevelopment of Residential Curtilages’ 
Supplementary Guidance, so it is appropriate to consider these together. 
 
Car Parking and Access 
As noted in the consultation response from the Council’s Roads Projects Team, 
the relevant ‘Transport and Accessibility’ Supplementary Guidance sets out that 
the proposed development should provide 16 car parking spaces. 8 spaces are 
proposed, and the consultation response highlights that this is an area where 
there is pressure on night-time car parking to serve residential properties. It is 
likely that such a shortfall in car parking provision would exacerbate existing on-
street parking problems in the area, contributing towards indiscriminate on-street 
parking.  
 
In addition to the under-provision of off-street car parking, there are a number of 
matters relating to the practicability of the access arrangements that have led to 
concerns being expressed by colleagues in the Council’s Roads Projects Team. 
These include insufficient width on the access ramp to allow cars to pass each 
other, sub-standard parking bay dimensions and insufficient aisle width within the 
parking area. Taking these matters into account, it is considered that the 
proposal would not make adequate provision for off-street car parking, as 
required by the Council’s Supplementary Guidance on ‘Transport and 
Accessibility’. 
 
Siting and Design 
The proposed new building would be oriented to face onto Bedford Place, 
occupying the full depth of the plot save for a slight set-back of 0.5m from the 
footway on Bedford Place. As a result, the garden to be provided for residents of 
the new building is positioned to the side of the building in an arrangement not 
recognisable in the surrounding area. Also, the positioning of a 4-storey building 
immediately adjacent to the mutual boundary would be very prominent when 
seen from 42 Bedford Road, to the detriment of the enjoyment of the private rear 
garden at that address. 
 
The building would incorporate 4 full storeys, and as a result its wall-head height 
is significantly higher than that of the adjacent block at 57 Bedford Place. Whilst it 
is acknowledged that the main frontage of the building would be set around 1m 
off the gable of the adjacent building, it is likely that the difference in wall-head 
height would be quite striking in the street scene, and would be amplified by 
further underlined by the contrast between the shallow roof pitch of the proposed 
building and the steep mansard-style roof of number 57. This roof style is a 
prominent feature in the surrounding area, both in larger corner blocks such as 
no.57 and in the 1 ½ storey terraces on either side of Bedford Place.  

Page 232



 
Privacy 
It is noted that the development has been designed with privacy in mind, with no 
windows whatsoever present in the south-western elevation of the building, 
facing towards the rear garden of the adjacent 42 Bedford Road. The internal 
accommodation has been arranged to allow for all windows at the rear of the 
building to be at right-angles to the adjacent feu. The windows of habitable rooms 
are oriented to either face north-east onto Bedford Place or sideways onto either 
the gable of 57 Bedford Place or onto void spaces within the plot, with obscure 
en-suite windows opposite. 
 
Amenity afforded to new residents 
Whilst the arrangement of windows to habitable rooms described above has 
successfully avoided any direct overlooking or loss of privacy to adjacent 
properties or their gardens, it has led to some of those windows being 
compromised in terms of their siting and prospect of good levels of sunlight and 
daylight. Of particular concern are the bedroom windows at the southern corner 
of the building, which would either face directly onto the adjoining gable at a 
distance of only 1.4m, or would look onto Bedford Place from approximately 4m 
within the plot, sandwiched on either side by the gable of 57 Bedford Place and 
the side wall of the proposed new building respectively. 
 
It is noted also that Police Scotland’s Architectural Liaison Officer has expressed 
concern in relation to the safety and security of the underground car parking 
area, which may in part be overcome through the area being secured via a 
shuttering system. 
 
Impact on character and amenity of surrounding area 
The proposal would result in a significant reduction in the size of the plot at 44 
Bedford Road. It is noted that the garden is currently poorly maintained, however 
current and future residents remain afforded the option to enjoy this space as 
they see fit. The proposed development would result in the private rear garden of 
44 Bedford Road being reduced from approximately 30m to 6.3m in length. Its 
width would be similarly compromised, with the ramp to undercroft parking and 
bin stores for no.44 reducing the width of the useable space to approximately 4.1. 
It is further noted that this retained ‘courtyard garden’ would be located 
immediately adjacent to the communal boundary, where a protruding stair 
enclosure presents a blank wall which, although not plotted on the submitted 
plans, appears to project approximately 2.5-3m along that boundary. The 
presence of this structure immediately adjacent to the only area of private garden 
space to be retained for no.44 serves to further compromise the quality of that 
environment. 
 
As noted in the ‘Design’ section of this report, the roof pitch and wallhead height 
of the proposed building would not relate well to the immediately adjoining 
building, and do not appear to reflect the character of development in the 

Page 233



surrounding area. This incongruous relationship would not be consistent with the 
character of development along Bedford Place, and would be detrimental to the 
character and amenity of the area. 
 
Relationship with pattern of development 
The established pattern of development in the surrounding area is that of 
buildings positioned close to the pavement’s edge, with private gardens laid out 
to the rear. The rear garden of the adjacent no.42 Bedford Road is currently 
afforded an open aspect to the north-east, which would be largely obscured by 
the presence of the proposed building. 
 
Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 
The proposed development is of a scale that would warrant payments towards 
the Strategic Transport Fund, along with developer contributions in relation to 
community facilities, sports facilities, libraries and the Core Path Network. It is 
noted also that consultation with the Council’s Developer Contributions Team has 
identified that the 25% requirement for affordable housing set out in the ALDP 
could best be met through a commuted payment. Such matters could be secured 
through an appropriate legal agreement were planning permission to be granted. 
 
Summary 
Whilst residential use is consistent with the character of the area in broad terms, 
the specific characteristics of this proposal, detailed above, are such that it would 
result in the overdevelopment of the site, and consequently an unacceptable 
impact on the character and amenity of the surrounding area, contrary to the 
provisions of policy H1 (Residential Areas) of the ALDP. It is further considered 
that the proposal would not be consistent with the established pattern of 
development in the wider area.  
 
The building would be unduly prominent from adjacent rear gardens, 
compromising the enjoyment of those amenity spaces, and the garden ground 
afforded to no.44 Bedford Road would be substantially diminished, to a level not 
characteristic of the wider area. The uncharacteristic arrangement of space and 
undue prominence of the new building relative to adjacent feus suggests that the 
proposal represents an over-development of the site. Similarly, the arrangement 
of windows to habitable rooms within the proposed building is such that some 
would have limited prospect for good levels of daylight. The design of the 
proposed building would not relate well to its surroundings, particularly with 
reference to wall-head height and roof pitch and styling, and could therefore not 
be considered to demonstrate due regard for its context. Taking these matters 
into account, the proposal is considered to demonstrate fundamental 
inconsistencies with the principles set out in the Council’s adopted 
supplementary guidance on ‘The Sub-division and Redevelopment of Residential 
Curtilages’, and through its failure to demonstrate due regard for its context, 
would be contrary to policy D1 (Architecture and Placemaking) of the ALDP. The 
limited daylight afforded to a number of bedroom windows is indicative of a 

Page 234



residential environment below what is expected by policy D2 (Design and 
Amenity) of the ALDP. 
 
Car parking provision is substantially deficient, and there appears limited scope 
for adequate parking to be provided within the site. This is likely to encourage 
indiscrimenate on-street parking and to further increase pressure on the available 
parking to serve residential needs in evenings. The proposal is contrary to the 
Council’s ‘Transport and Accessibility’ supplementary guidance, and the 
associated policy T2 (Manging the Transport Impact of Development) of the 
ALDP. 
 
Deficiencies in terms of ‘designing out crime’ and making appropriate provision 
for waste collection services have been identified, which are potentially 
resolvable and are not central to the principle of the proposal, however are such 
that currently the proposal would be contrary to the requirement of policy D2 
(Design and Amenity), Policy R6 (Waste Management in New Developments) 
and the associated Waste supplementary guidance. 
 
No material considerations of sufficient weight to warrant determination other 
than in accordance with the development plan have been identified. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
 
Refuse 
 
REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
1. The proposed development represents an over-development of the site, 
resulting in an uncharacteristic arrangement of buildings and spaces and an 
unduly detrimental impact on the private garden of properties at 42 and 44 
Bedford Road, contrary to policies H1 (Residential Areas) and H3 (Density) of the 
Aberdeen Local Development Plan (ALDP) and the associated 'Sub-division and 
Redevelopment of Residential Curtilages' Supplementary Guidance. 
 
2. The design of the proposed building would not demonstrate due regard for its 
context, with the height to wall-head level and angle of roof pitch in particular 
giving rise to a striking contrast with the adjoining building at 57 Bedford Place. In 
failing to demonstrate due regard for its context and make a positive contribution 
to its setting, the proposal is contrary to policy D1 (Architecture and Placemaking) 
of the ALDP. 
 
3. A number of windows into habitable rooms within the building would be poorly 
sited, with little opportunity for daylight and sunlight, contrary to the provisions of 
policy D2 (Design and Amenity) of the ALDP and the associated 'Sub-division 
and Redevelopment of Residential Curtilages' Supplementary Guidance. 

Page 235



 
4. A significant shortfall in car parking provision would contribute towards 
increased pressure on the available on-street car parking in the surrounding 
area, and may encourage discriminate parking as a result. In this regard, the 
proposal fails to comply with the Council's adopted 'Transport and Accessibility' 
Supplementary Guidance. 

Page 236



Scottish Planning Policy 
 
Paragraph 82 
 
Infill sites within existing settlements can often make a useful contribution to 
the supply of housing land.  Proposals for infill sites should respect the scale, 
form and density of the surroundings and enhance the character and amenity 
of the community.  The individual and cumulative effects of infill development 
should be sustainable in relation to social, economic, transport and other 
relevant physical infrastructure and should not lead to over development. 

Agenda Item 4(B)

Page 237



Page 238

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy I1 – Infrastructure Delivery and Developer Contributions 
 
Development must be accompanied by the infrastructure, services and 
facilities required to support new or expanded communities and the scale and 
type of developments proposed.  Where development either individually or 
cumulatively will place additional demands on community facilities or 
infrastructure that would necessitate new facilities or exacerbate deficiencies 
in existing provision, the Council will require the developer to meet or 
contribute to the cost of providing or improving such infrastructure or facilities. 
 
Infrastructure requirements relating to Masterplan Zone sites and other 
allocated sites outwith the Masterplan Zones are set out in Appendices 4 and 
5.  Actions for delivering such infrastructure are described in the Local 
Development Plan Action Programme.  Infrastructure requirements and the 
level of developer contributions for other development will be assessed using 
the criteria set out in the Infrastructure and Developers Contributions Manual.  
The precise level of infrastructure requirements and developer contributions 
will need to be agreed with the Council, and other statutory agencies.  The 
level of provision or contribution required will relate to the development 
proposed either directly or to the cumulative impact of the development in the 
area and be commensurate to its scale and impact. 
 
Masterplans will be expected to reflect the infrastructure requirements and 
developer contributions identified and should include a Delivery Statement 
setting out details of how the proposed development, and supporting 
infrastructure, will be delivered. 
 
New infrastructure will either be provided by the developer or through financial 
contributions. 

Page 239



Page 240

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy T2 – Managing the Transport Impact of Development 
 
New developments will need to demonstrate that sufficuent measures have 
been taken to minimise the traffic generated. 
 
Transport Assessments and Travel Plans will be required for developments 
which exceed the thresholds set out in the Transport and Accessibility 
Supplementary Guidance.  Planning conditions and/or legal agreements may 
be imposed to bind the targets set out in the Travel Plan and set the 
arrangements for monitoring, enforcement and review. 
 
Maximum car parking standards are set out in Supplementary Guidance on 
Transport and Accessibility and detail the standards that different types of 
development should provide. 

Page 241



Page 242

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy D1 – Architecture and Placemaking 
 
To ensure high standards of design, new development must be designed with 
due consideration for its context and make a positive contribution to its 
setting.  Factors such as siting, scale, massing, colour, materials, orientation, 
details, the proportions of building elements, together with the spaces around 
buildings, including streets, squares, open space, landscaping and boundary 
treatments, will be considered in assessing that contribution. 
 
To ensure that there is a consistent approach to high quality development 
thropughout the City with an emphasis on creating quality places, the 
Aberdeen Masterplannign Process Supplementary Guidance will be applied. 
 
The level of detail required will be appropriate to the scale and sensitivity of 
the site.  The full scope will be agreed with us prior to commencement. 
 
Landmark or high buildings should respect the height and scale of their 
surroundings, the urban topography, the City’s skyline and aim to preserve or 
enhance important views. 
 

Page 243



Page 244

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy D2 - Design and Amenity 
 
In order to ensure the provision of appropriate levels of amenity the following 
principles will be applied: 
 
1. Privacy shall be designed into higher density housing. 
 
2. Residential development shall have a public face to a street and a private face 

to an enclosed garden or court. 
 
3. All residents shall have access to sitting-out areas. This can be provided by 

balconies, private gardens, terraces, communal gardens or other means 
acceptable to the Council. 

 
4. When it is necessary to accommodate car parking within a private court, the 

parking must not dominate the space: as a guideline no more than 50% of any 
court should be taken up by parking spaces and access roads. Underground 
or decked parking will be expected in high density schemes. 

 
5. Individual flats or houses within a development shall be designed to make the 

most of opportunities offered by the site for views and sunlight. Repeated 
standard units laid out with no regard for location or orientation are not 
acceptable. 

 
6. Development proposals shall include measures to design out crime and 

design in safety. 
 
7. External lighting shall take into account residential amenity and minimise light 

spillage into adjoining areas and the sky. 
 
Development deemed to have an influence on public realm in the City Centre, Town, 
District or Neighbourhood Centres will make an agreed contribution to art or other 
enhancement of the public realm. 

Page 245



Page 246

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy D3 - Sustainable and Active Travel 
 
New development will be designed in order to minimise travel by private car, improve 
access to services and promote healthy lifestyles by encouraging active travel. 
Development will maintain and enhance permeability, ensuring that opportunities for 
sustainable and active travel are both protected and improved.  Access to, and 
movement within and between, new and existing developments will prioritise 
transport modes in the following order - walking, cycling, public transport, car and 
other motorised vehicles. 
 
Street layouts will reflect the principles of Designing Streets and will meet the 
minimum distances to services as set out in Supplementary Guidance on Transport 
and Accessibility, helping to achieve maximum levels of accessibility for communities 
to employment, essential services and areas of recreation.  Existing access rights, 
including core paths, rights of way and paths within the wider network will be 
protected and enhanced.  Where development proposals impact on the access 
network, the principle of the access must be maintained through the provision of 
suitable alternative routes. 

Page 247



Page 248

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy H1 – Residential Areas 
 
Within existing residential areas (H1 on the Proposals Map) and within new 
residential developments, proposals for new residential developmetn and 
householder development will be approved in principle if it: 

1. Does not constitute overdevelopment 
2. Does not have an unacceptable impact on the character or amenity of 

the surrounding area 
3. Does not result in the loss of valuable and valued areas of open space.  

Open space is defined in the Aberdeen Open Space Audit 2010 
4. Complies with Supplementary Guidance on Curtilage Splits;  and 
5. Complies with Supplementary Guidance on House Extensions 

 
Within existing residential areas, proposals for non-residential uses will be 
refused unless: 
 

1. They are considered complementary to residential use 
2. It can be demonstrated that the use would cause no conflict with, or 

any nuisance to, the enjoyment of existing residential amenity 
 
 

Page 249



Page 250

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy H3 - Density 
 
The City Council will seek an appropriate density of development on all housing 
allocations and windfall sites. All residential developments of over one hectare must: 
 
1. meet a minimum density of 30 dwellings per hectare (net). Net dwelling density 
includes those areas which will be developed for housing and directly associated 
uses, including access roads within the site, garden ground and incidental open 
space; 
 
2. have consideration of the site’s characteristics and those of the surrounding area; 
 
3. create an attractive residential environment and safeguard living conditions within 
the development; and 
 
4. consider providing higher densities in the City Centre, around local centres, and 
public transport nodes. 

Page 251



Page 252

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy H5 - Affordable Housing 
 
Housing developments of five units or more are required to contribute no less than 
25% of the total number of units as affordable housing. Further guidance on the 
provision of affordable housing from new developments is available in 
Supplementary Guidance on Affordable Housing. 

Page 253



Page 254

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy R6 – Waste Management Requirements for New Development 
 
Housing developments should have sufficient space for the storage of 
residual, recyclable and compostable wastes.  Flatted developments will 
require communal facilities that allow for the separate storage and collection 
of these materials.  Recycling facilities should be provided in all new 
superstores or large supermarkets and in other developments where 
appropriate.  Details of storage facilities and means of collection must be 
included as part of any planning application for development which would 
generate waste. 
 
Further details are set out in the Supplementary Guidance on Waste 
Management. 

Page 255



Page 256

This page is intentionally left blank



Policy R7 - Low and Zero Carbon Buildings 
 
All new buildings, in meeting building regulations energy requirements, must install 
low and zero-carbon generating technology to reduce the predicted carbon dioxide 
emissions by at least 15% below 2007 building standards. This percentage 
requirement will be increased as specified in Supplementary Guidance. 
 
This requirement does not apply to: 
 
1. Alterations and extensions to buildings; 
 
2. Change of use or conversion of buildings; 
 
3. Ancillary buildings that are stand-alone having an area less than 50 square 

metres; 
 
4. Buildings which will not be heated or cooled, other than by heating provided 

solely for the purpose of frost protection; or 
 
5. Buildings which have an intended life of less than two years. 
 
Compliance with this requirement will be demonstrated by the submission of a low 
carbon development statement.  Further guidance is contained in Supplementary 
Guidance on Low and Zero Carbon Buildings. 

Page 257



Page 258

This page is intentionally left blank



Supplementary Guidance

Topic: Low and Zero Carbon 
Buildings

February 2014 

Page 259



2

Introduction ...................................................................................................... 3
Background .................................................................................................. 3
Legal Requirement ....................................................................................... 4
The Development Plan Context.................................................................... 4

Local Development Plan policy........................................................................ 4
Increasing the Proportion of Low and Zero Carbon Generating 
Technologies................................................................................................ 5
Low and Zero Carbon Generating Technologies and the Masterplanning 
Process ........................................................................................................ 5

Designing for Reduced Energy Demand.......................................................... 6
Eligible Low and Zero Carbon Generating Technologies................................. 6
Demonstrating Compliance with Policy............................................................ 7
Instances When Policy Will Be Relaxed .......................................................... 8
Pre-application Discussions............................................................................. 8

Page 260



3

Introduction
The purpose of this supplementary guidance is to provide the methodology for 
developers to demonstrate compliance with Aberdeen Local Development 
Plan policy R7, which requires all new buildings to install low and zero carbon 
generating technology.

Background
Climate change, energy insecurity and rising fuel poverty are key challenges 
for Scotland now and in the foreseeable future. 

The Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 received Royal Assent on August 4, 
2009. The Act sets in statute the Government Economic Strategy target to 
reduce Scotland's emissions of greenhouse gases by 80 per cent by 2050. 
This covers the basket of six greenhouse gases recognised by the United 
Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change and includes Scotland's 
share of emissions from international aviation and international shipping. 

More than 40% of Scotland’s carbon dioxide emissions, a major cause of 
climate change, come from the energy we use to heat, light and run our 
buildings.1 In Aberdeen City housing makes up 31% of the City's carbon 
footprint, which is 3.98 tonnes CO2 per capita. The Aberdeen City and Shire 
Structure Plan provides significant housing and employment allowance: 
36,000 homes and 175 hectares of employment land to 2030. The housing 
allocations, once built, would result in an increase in the housing stock by
33%.  

Requiring new buildings to meet more stringent energy standards will lessen 
their environmental impact, make them more affordable to heat, lessen our 
dependence on imported energy and support a domestic market for low and 
zero carbon generating technologies. Implementation of Policy R7 Low and 
Zero Carbon Buildings would thereby contribute to sustainable economic 
growth.

Policy R7 does not duplicate these standards, but requires developments to 
meet a proportion of the mandatory CO2 emission reduction through the use 
of low and zero carbon generating technologies. In most cases, this will mean
that the energy assessment information required to satisfy the buildings 
standards’ energy requirements will be required at planning stage, not 

afterwards.

1
http://www.sbsa.gov.uk/sullivanreport.htm

Page 261



4

Legal Requirement
Section 72 of the Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 requires Local 
Planning Authorities to “include policies requiring all developments in the local 
development plan area to be designed so as to ensure that all new buildings 
avoid a specified and rising proportion of the projected greenhouse gas 
emissions from their use, calculated on the basis of the approved design and 
plans for the specific development, through the installation and operation of 
low and zero carbon generating technologies.” In February 2010, Scottish 
Planning Policy reiterated the above requirement. 

The Development Plan Context
Section 25 of the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 requires 
decisions on planning applications to be made in accordance with the 
development plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Upon
adoption of the Aberdeen Local Development Plan in 2012, the Development 
Plan for Aberdeen will comprise the Aberdeen City and Shire Structure Plan 
(2009), the Aberdeen Local Development Plan and associated Supplementary 
Guidance.

Structure Plan targets require:

All new buildings to be carbon neutral by 2016

The city region’s electricity needs to be met from renewable sources by 
2020.

Local Development Plan policy
Policy R7, below, sets a requirement for all new buildings to incorporate low 
and zero carbon generating technologies to reduce the predicted carbon 
dioxide emissions by at least 15%. This policy is hereafter referred to in this 
Supplementary Guidance as ‘the policy’.

R7 - Low and Zero Carbon Buildings 
All new buildings, in meeting building regulations energy requirements, must 
install low and zero carbon generating technology (LZCGT) to reduce the 
predicted carbon dioxide emissions by at least 15% below 2007 building 
standards. This percentage requirement will be increased as specified in 
Supplementary Guidance.

This requirement does not apply to:

Alterations and extensions to buildings;

Change of use or conversion of buildings;

Ancillary buildings that are stand-alone having an area less than 50 
square metres; 

Buildings, which will not be heated or cooled, other than by heating 
provided solely for the purpose of frost protection; or

Limited life buildings which have an intended life of less than 2 years.

Compliance with this requirement will be demonstrated by the submission of a 
low carbon development statement. Further guidance is contained in 
Supplementary Guidance.

Page 262



5

Increasing the Proportion of Low and Zero Carbon Generating Technologies
The Sullivan report made recommendations about the most effective way to 
increase standards, through the building standards. It recommends that there 
are staged energy improvements beyond the 2007 building standards: 30% 
by 2010; 60% by 2013 and net zero carbon by 2016/17. This has been 
identified as the most appropriate method to reach net zero carbon buildings 
by 2016 if practical. Therefore, the planning requirements for low and zero 
carbon generating technologies are to be a part of the required saving, and
will help to promote the development of renewable technologies, which as the 
CO2 targets are increased will become essential. The present economic 
context has lead to delays in implementing the increases and it is important 
that this policy reflects any changes to the planned increases.

As the building standards energy requirements are increased there will be an 
increasing need to incorporate a larger proportion of low and zero carbon 
generating technologies. Therefore, as building standards are increased the 
proportion of savings to be met through low and zero carbon generating 
technologies is always to be at least half the total saving. The applicable rate 
will be half of the prevailing Energy Requirements at the point in time at which 
the application was granted consent. The CO2 reduction through low and zero 
carbon generating technologies will not be increased ahead of the changes in 
the Building Standards Energy Requirements and Table 1 below sets out the 
indicative requirements.

Table 1: Indicative % Reduction Achieved Through Low and Zero 
Carbon Generating Technologies Above 2007 Baseline

Year % reduction Planned Building Standards 
Energy Requirements

2010 15% 30%

2014 30% 60%

2016 50% 100%

Low and Zero Carbon Generating Technologies and the Masterplanning 
Process 
Larger developments that have a mix of both housing and business or include 
large energy users such as schools and swimming pools will provide a 
continued heat demand throughout the whole day. For this type of 
development the use of decentralised and local renewable or low carbon 
sources of heat and power becomes more viable, and for combined heat and 
power plants this continued heat demand will ensure continued electricity 
generation. There are a number of larger mixed use allocations in the Local 
Development Plan and this provides an opportunity to make use of these 
technologies to achieve greater CO2 savings.

During the process of preparing masterplans for larger mixed use 
developments developers will be required to carry out a feasibility study of the 
potential for renewable and low-carbon energy solutions across the site, for 
example, the potential to make use of decentralised combined heat and 
power using a renewable fuel source such as woodchip. This may result in an 
opportunity to make greater CO2 savings than required by Policy R7. In terms 

Page 263



6

of residential developments this should cover developments of 500 units or 
more that include other uses than solely housing.

For sites where a decentralised energy scheme is commercially viable, and it 
is the preferred option, it will be important to consider the build programme 
and at which stage in the development the energy scheme will become viable. 
It will not always be feasible to implement the full decentralised energy 
scheme, using renewable fuel, designed to serve the whole development for 
the first phase of development because the projected heat load will not exist 
to support the plant. In the case that development will, once complete, make 
use of a decentralised heating or combined heat and power plant and it has 
been calculated that on completion of the development there will be additional 
CO2 savings above those required by policy R7, flexibility in the application of 
policy should be applied to the earlier phases that make use of temporary 
sources of heat. For example, installing a temporary small scale gas powered 
decentralised energy plant in advance of providing a larger scale biomass 
powered decentralised energy plant.

Designing for Reduced Energy Demand
Good, careful design at the outset will minimise the total energy demand for 
the lifetime of a development. Design considerations for a development as a 
whole and for the individual buildings will help to increase the efficiency of 
energy use. Well sited developments, orientation and design are not always 
included in the calculation methodologies used for building regulations. 
However, use of passive energy efficiency measures should be incorporated 
into all development to help reduce the energy demand of new buildings in 
addition to the buildings standards energy requirements. 

Eligible Low and Zero Carbon Generating Technologies
The equipment may be attached to the building or within the site boundary as
shown on the planning application. This allows for the low and zero carbon 
generating technologies to benefit more than one building and being sited to 
maximise energy gain.

The technologies eligible to meet the requirements of the policy are set out in 
Table 2 below.

Table 2: Eligible Zero and Low Carbon Generating Technologies

Biomass Solar power Air source heat pumps

Fuel cells Photovoltaics Combined heat and 
power

Micro-hydro Ground source heat 
pumps

Heat exchange recovery 
systems

Micro-wind Water source heat 
pumps

Geothermal

Solar Thermal Passive flue gas heat 
recovery devices

Page 264



7

Demonstrating Compliance with Policy
Applicants should consider how to meet the requirements of this guidance at 
an early stage of planning. It will be the responsibility of applicants to provide 
the necessary technical calculations in support of planning applications to 
demonstrate how the proposed development will satisfy the requirements of 
this guidance.

The policy target is specific to CO2 emissions from the energy 
performance2. The assessment approach in this guidance therefore relates 
directly to this. In order to demonstrate the appropriate reduction in CO2

emissions as a result of low and zero carbon generating technologies the 
Standard Assessment Procedure Energy Rating (SAP) is required for 
dwellings and the Simplified Building Energy Model (SBEM) for all other 
developments. Table 3 below sets out a summary of the stages in the 
calculation to demonstrate compliance with this policy. 

Table 3: Summary of Calculations and Process
1. The appropriate software program (SAP/SBEM) is used to calculate the

2007 Building Regulations CO2 Emissions Standard. This will provide a 
Target Emissions Rate (TER), which is the predicted CO2 emissions for 
a building of the specified size. Note: it is important for the purposes of 
this calculation that it is the 2007 TER that is used. 

2. The appropriate software program (SAP/SBEM) is used to calculate the
actual emissions rate for the proposed development, which includes the 
low and zero carbon generating equipment. This is the Dwelling or 
Building Emissions Rate (DER/BER), which is the predicted CO2

emissions for the actual proposal.
3. Calculate the reduction from step 1 to step 2:

step 1- step 2
4. Calculate the reduction in step 3 as a % reduction on the 2007 TER:

(Step 3 ÷ Step 1) x 100
5 The appropriate software program (SAP/SBEM) is used to calculate the

actual emissions rate for the development without the low and zero
carbon generating technologies. This is a repeat of stage 2 and provides
a re-calculation of the DER/BER without the low and zero carbon 
generating technologies.

6. Calculate the reduction, beyond the 2007 standard, due to the low zero 
carbon equipment:
(step 5 – step 2) 

7. Calculate the percentage reduction beyond the 2007 standard as a result 
of low and zero carbon equipment:
(Step 6 ÷ step 3) x Step 4

Note: The calculation methodology may require to be updated when revised 
building standards come into force.

2
Energy performance covers the CO2 emissions arising from the use of heating, hot water 

and lighting.

Page 265



8

Instances When Policy Will Be Relaxed
Development will have deemed compliance with the requirement to install low 
and zero carbon generating technology if it can be demonstrated that the 
development will achieve a CO2 saving greater than required by the current 
building standards (the minimum standard is likely to change over the life time 
of the plan as building standards are increased),

Justification
Section 44 of the Climate Change (Scotland) Act 2009 seeks to ensure that 
public bodies in exercising their functions in the way best calculated contribute 
to the delivery of the carbon reduction targets and carry these out in the most 
sustainable way. In addition the Structure Plan has set a target of all new 
buildings to be carbon neutral by 2016. 

It is accepted that the most sustainable way in which the carbon emissions 
from new buildings can be saved is through improving the energy efficiency of 
the building. By reducing the energy demand of a building in the first instance 
as far as is practicable it becomes more feasible to then provide the lower 
energy requirements through low and zero carbon generating technologies. 
By allowing the relaxation of policy if a greater CO2 saving can be achieved
the Council will make a greater contribution towards the delivery of the 
Scottish Government’s carbon reduction targets and the Structure Plan target. 

Pre-application Discussions
The installation of LZCGT can raise additional issues which need to be 
tackled at an early stage in planning a development. As an example, ground 
source heat pumps (which are one of the eligible technologies listed in Table 
2), can cause significant damage to trees. Where trees are present on, or 
adjacent to the site where associated pipes are to be buried, a tree survey 
should be submitted along with the application highlighting the likely impact of 
the excavation works on the tree(s) and any mitigation proposed. The impact 
the excavation works and installation are likely to have on local hydrology 
should also be investigated. Micro-hydro schemes may require authorisation
from SEPA under the Water Environment (Controlled Activities) (Scotland) 
Regulations 2005. 

Before submitting your planning application, we encourage you to discuss 
your proposal with us. We can advise you of your project’s compliance with 
planning policies and on detailed design matters.

Page 266



9

Useful Documents

SPP – http://www.scotland.gov.uk/

Development Plan:

Aberdeen City and Shire Structure Plan (2009) – www.aberdeencityandshire-
sdpa.gov.uk

Aberdeen City Council (2008) Aberdeen Local Development Plan - 
http://www.aberdeencity.gov.uk/localdevelopmentplan

Detailed Advice on LZC Equipment:

Scottish Government (2002) PAN 45: Renewable Energy Technologies - 
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2002/02/pan45/pan-45

Scottish Government (2006) Annex to PAN 45 Renewable Energy 
Technologies: Planning for Micro Renewables - 
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2006/10/03093936/0

Greater London Authority (2004) Integrating renewable energy into new 
developments: Toolkit for planners, developers and consultants - 
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor/environment/energy/renew_resources.jsp

Building Standards Division - Safe and sustainable installation of low carbon 
equipment - Guides
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Topics/Built-Environment/Building/Building-
standards/publications/pubtech#a15

SEPA (2010) Supporting Guidance WAT-SG-62 Geothermal Abstraction - 
Geothermal Energy 
http://search.sepa.org.uk/sepa?action=search&q=geothermal%20energy

Page 267



Page 268

This page is intentionally left blank



                                 

Supplementary Guidance 

Topic: Transport and Accessibility

March 2012 

1

Page 269



CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION          3 

2. STANDARDS FOR ACCESSIBILITY AND PUBLIC TRANSPORT SERVICES 4 

3. ACCESS AND PERMEABILITY        5 

4. GUIDELINES & SPECIFICATIONS GUIDANCE     6 

5. TRANSPORT ASSESSMENTS        9 

6. TRAVEL PLANS          12 

7. PARKING           15 

8. PARKING IN CONSERVATION AREAS      29 

9. DRIVEWAYS GUIDE         37 

10. AUTOMATIC TELLER MACHINES (“CASH MACHINES”)    41 

2

Page 270



3

1. INTRODUCTION 

Good transport connections are essential to the economic prosperity of Aberdeen 
and the quality of life of people living and working in the City.  With an emphasis on 
ensuring that transport provision is considered from the very outset of a planning 
application, the Council is committed to developments that encourage sustainable 
travel.

This Supplementary Guidance on Transport and Accessibility aims to assist 
developers in the preparation of planning applications. This document examines a 
number of transport and accessibility issues that may have to be considered as part 
of a planning application and should be read in conjunction with the Aberdeen Local 
Development Plan and the Local Transport Strategy. 

Page 271



2. STANDARDS FOR ACCESSIBILITY AND PUBLIC TRANSPORT SERVICES

The ability to access key services and facilities directly affects quality of life and is a 
major contributor to social inclusion.  New and existing communities should be able 
to access services, facilities and jobs by walking, cycling and public transport. 

Developments should be linked by the most direct, attractive, safe and secure 
pedestrian links possible to potential trip sources within 800 metres of the 
development.

Public transport should be available within 400 metres of the origins and destinations 
of trips within the development.  Public transport provision should be at a frequency, 
times and to places that; 

 Are at intervals of no more than 15 minutes, and ideally 10-12 minutes; 

 Meet the needs of those without access to a car who would wish to access the 
development; and

 Provide an effective alternative for those that do have access to a car. 

Developers will be required to provide for the appropriate level of service identified 
through a transport assessment, if this level will not be provided commercially by a 
bus operator. 

In all cases developers should engage with the Council and relevant partners (such 
as Nestrans and public transport operators) at an early stage in the masterplan 
and/or planning application process to discuss the arrangements and requirements 
for providing new public transport services.

Accessibility Planning software, such as Accession, may be used as a tool to assess 
potential development locations and then guide decisions on development proposals.  
Accessibility planning involves measuring journey times to services and facilities and 
identifying the most suitable locations for new development or particular services and 
facilities.  By measuring accessibility to services/facilities by public transport this 
process can also be used to improve the quality and availability of public transport to 
existing and future users or customers.  In doing so, Accessibility Planning provides 
opportunities to improve social inclusion. 

4

Page 272



3. ACCESS AND PERMEABILITY

The ability to access, move around and through the built and natural environment by 
walking and cycling is a major contributor to quality of life and, in particular, an 
individual’s ability to freely access the services and facilities they need without using 
a vehicle.  New development will be required to protect and enhance existing access 
rights including core paths, rights of way and paths within the wider network. 

The Land Reform (Scotland) Act 2003 introduced the right of responsible non-
motorised access to most land and inland water in Scotland. The Land Reform Act 
also introduced statutory duties on Aberdeen City Council requiring it to protect 
access rights, including core paths and other paths within the wider paths network. In 
addition, the Council has a duty under the Countryside (Scotland) Act 1967 to uphold 
access along any public right of way. 

In planning the layout of new development, the Core Paths Plan (2009) and Open 
Space Strategy (2011) should be taken into account, including routes referred to as 
‘aspirational’ in the Core Paths Plan.  New development must be permeable to 
walkers and cyclists and should ensure that new routes are planned in accordance 
with the 5 C’s – connected, convenient, comfortable, convivial and conspicuous – as 
referred to in the Aberdeen Local Transport Strategy 2008 - 2012. 

The Aberdeen Outdoor Access Forum brings together key stakeholders involved with 
access to the outdoors.  The Forum has an input to access provision relating to new 
development, and will assist the Council in the resolution of any outdoor access 
disputes where there are conflicts between the provision of new or improved access 
routes and neighbouring land uses. 

Further guidance on the following access issues can be found in the documents 
listed below. 

Standards for path 
construction

Lowland Path Construction: A Guide to Good Practice 
Paths for All (2001) 

Standards for signage 
design

Signage Guidance for Outdoor Access: A Guide to 
Good Practice 
Paths for All (2009) 

Directional Signage Guidance for Paths 
Aberdeen City Council (2011) 

5

Page 273



4. GUIDELINES & SPECIFICATIONS GUIDANCE

The Council is undertaking a review of its 1998 publication “Guidelines and 
Specification for Roads within Residential and Industrial Developments” which sets 
out the technical requirements for designing new roads, parking facilities, and 
walking and cycling infrastructure.  The review takes account of the Scottish 
Government’s Policy Statement Designing Streets (2010).  The Council intends to 
publish a fully revised version of the technical guidelines in due course and officers 
are progressing this detailed work.  In the meantime, the Local Development Plan 
has taken account of Designing Streets by including a Roads Descriptor’ Map which 
categorises the road network according to the principles of Designing Streets (see 
Figure 1 and 2 below).  This will form part of the full review document but is being 
published as part of this Supplementary Guidance in order to guide the planning and 
delivery of different types of roads that the Council will expect to be provided to 
support new developments. 

For the avoidance of any doubt, we would recommend that developers speak to the 
Roads Design Team at the earliest possible stage in the planning application process 
to determine an appropriate design and layout for development.

6

Page 274



Figure 1 – Roads Descriptor Map 

7

Page 275



Figure 2 – Roads Descriptor Matrix 

8

P
a
g

e
 2

7
6



5. TRANSPORT ASSESSMENTS

The majority of new development will have an impact on the transport network and 
these impacts must be identified and dealt with as early as possible in the planning 
process. Transport Assessments (TA) can help to identify and tackle these issues at 
the planning application stage. 

The Infrastructure and Developer Contributions Manual Supplementary Guidance 
document identifies transport infrastructure required to support sites identified in the 
Local Development Plan.  In addition, developers will be required to undertake a 
Transport Assessment to determine whether any further infrastructure or service 
improvements are required in order to support the development proposed.

The Scottish Government has published guidance on Transport Assessments 
(Transport Assessment and Implementation: A Guide, 2005) and developers should 
refer to this for more detailed information. 

Transport Assessments will vary in size and complexity depending on the nature, 
size and possible effects of the development.

A Transport Assessment will be required for developments which exceed the 
following thresholds,: 

Food retail >1,000m2 Gross Floor Area 
Non-food retail >1,000m2 Gross Floor Area 
Cinemas and conference facilities >1,000m2 Gross Floor Area 
Leisure facilities >1,000m2 Gross Floor Area 
Business >2,500m2 Gross Floor Area 
Industry >5,000m2 Gross Floor Area 
Distribution and warehousing >10,000m2 Gross Floor Area 
Hospitals >2,500m2 Gross Floor Area 
Higher and further education >2,500m2 Gross Floor Area 
Stadia >1,500 seats 
Housing >100 dwellings. 

A Transport Assessment should provide a comprehensive and consistent review of 
all the potential transport impacts relating to a proposed development or 
redevelopment and its immediate vicinity.  The TA should consider travel-related 
issues such as safety, trip generation, access junction design and new infrastructure 
required (such as new bus services or cycle lanes) before, during and following 
construction. Adverse traffic and accessibility issues should be addressed and, if 
appropriate, suitable mitigation measures identified.

The assessment should look at the accessibility of the site by different modes of 
travel. The objective should be to maximise sustainable travel by walking, cycling and 
public transport and only then to consider the impact of the residual car traffic. 
Developers will be expected to take a realistic approach to their assessment of how 
much travel will be capable of being attracted to sustainable modes and they should 
bear in mind the Council’s traffic targets as set out in the Local Transport Strategy 
(2008) and detailed in the Local Transport Strategy Monitoring Paper (2009). 

9

Page 277



There are two ways to ensure that sustainable travel will be maximised. First, through 
careful attention to the design and layout of the development itself and giving priority 
to those on foot, cycling or using public transport ahead of car user requirements; 
secondly through measures to improve infrastructure and services to encourage 
sustainable travel within the catchment area of the development. 

As a minimum, the Transport Assessment should include: 

1. Details of the development:  

 The proposed land use; 

 Scale of the development, such as number of residential units or Gross Floor 
Area (GFA) and phasing of development; 

 Plans and drawings showing the proposed site layout, particularly the 
proposed pedestrian, cycle and vehicular access points into the site; 

 Servicing arrangements and emergency vehicle access; and 

 Parking provision (including disabled, cycle and motorcycle parking). 

2. Existing transport conditions: 

 Walking and cycling routes and facilities; 

 Existing public transport services and infrastructure; 

 Operation of the local road network; 

 Recent traffic surveys; and 

 Accident history on the local road network. 

3.     Trip generation and distribution: 

 Calculation of the likely number of trips to and from the development by each 
transport mode throughout the day; and 

 Determination of which routes will be used to access the site. 

4.  Public transport, walking and cycling assessments:

 Assessment of whether the current public transport services and walking and 
cycling infrastructure have sufficient capacity to accommodate the additional 
trips created by the development; 

 An assessment of the level of accessibility to services and facilities by public 
transport, walking and cycling, where possible using the Accession software 
tool; and 

 If levels of accessibility are not sufficient, details of new facilities/services to 
be provided as part of the development proposals, such as public transport 
improvements and improved footpath and cycle path linkages. 

5. Proposals (in the form of a Travel Plan) to reduce the number of trips to the 
development:

 Measures to reduce the need to travel (e.g. home working); 

 Measures to encourage the use of more sustainable travel options rather 
than single occupier car journeys (e.g. walking, cycling, public transport, car 
sharing); and 

 A proposed parking strategy. 

6. Traffic Impact Assessments:

 Assessment of whether the road network has sufficient capacity to 
accommodate the residual vehicular trips created by the development 

10

Page 278



11

 The transport impacts of site construction, including the requirements of 
abnormal loads in the construction, use and decommissioning of the present 
development;

 The transport impacts of freight or service operations; 

 If the site of the proposed development has a current use or an extant 
planning permission with trip patterns/volumes, the net level of change that 
might arise out of the new proposals should be set out; and 

 An identification of the mitigation measures that will be required to address 
those traffic impacts that are likely to cause concern. 

Page 279



6. TRAVEL PLANS

A Travel Plan is a generic title for a package of measures aimed at promoting more 
sustainable travel choices to and from a development, with an emphasis on 
reducing reliance on the private car, thereby lessening the impact on the 
surrounding road network. A Travel Plan may also be required to address a 
particular traffic or parking problem likely to come about as a result of development 
and to reduce harmful emissions from vehicles.

Travel Plans can also reduce the cost of business travel, promote healthy living 
among employees and residents and widen the potential labour pool to include 
those that do not have access to a car. Travel Plans can be financially beneficial for 
employers to implement, by reducing the number of car parking spaces required. 

A Travel Plan will be required for developments which exceeds the following 
thresholds:

Food retail >1,000m2 Gross Floor Area 
Non-food retail >1,000m2 Gross Floor Area 
Cinemas and conference facilities >1,000m2 Gross Floor Area 
Leisure facilities >1,000m2 Gross Floor Area 
Business >2,500m2 Gross Floor Area 
Industry >5,000m2 Gross Floor Area 
Distribution and warehousing >10,000m2 Gross Floor Area 
Hospitals >2,500m2 Gross Floor Area 
Higher and further education >2,500m2 Gross Floor Area 
Stadia >1,500 seats 
Housing >100 dwellings. 
All schools. 

Developments which fall below these thresholds are also encouraged to prepare 
Travel Plans in support of applications for development.   

Travel Plans should be site-specific and measures and objectives should reflect the 
individual characteristics of a site as well as the trips likely to be generated by that 
development.  They should contain a range of measures to ensure that the site is 
accessible by a variety of modes of transport, and that private car use to and from 
the site is discouraged via a combination of incentives and disincentives. 
Workplace Travel Plans can address commuter journeys to work, customer access, 
business travel and fleet management and they can encompass the movement of 
freight as well as people. 

There may be opportunities to create informal or formal networks of organisations 
and businesses within defined areas known as Transport Management 
Organisations (TMOs).  TMOs provide a forum for identifying and implementing 
measures that will improve travel conditions for companies, their employees, and 
the local community.  Aberdeen City Council will work with Nestrans and the private 
sector to support and encourage the development of further TMOs across 
Aberdeen. 

12

Page 280



What should the Travel Plan contain? 

A number of conditions have been identified that must be in place in order for a 
Travel Plan to be successful: 

 The appointment of a dedicated Travel Plan Co-ordinator to oversee 
implementation of the Plan; 

 Engagement with staff and residents to identify what would encourage them 
to change their travel behaviour; 

 The Plan should be based on the findings of a recent staff or residents travel 
survey and regular follow-up surveys should be undertaken to assess the 
Plan’s progress and ensure it remains current; 

 The plan should include a comprehensive package of measures, including 
incentives and disincentives to bring about change; 

 The plan should be site-specific, tailored to suit the individual development; 

 The plan should set clear objectives and targets, with monitoring procedures 
identified;

 A funding stream for new infrastructure, initiatives, promotion and marketing; 
and

 Senior management support and approval for the Plan. 

Typical workplace travel plan measures include: 

 Ensuring there are safe walking and cycling routes to the development; 

 Providing safe cycle parking facilities near the entrance to the workplace; 

 Providing showers and changing facilities for cyclists and pedestrians; 

 Providing a dedicated bus for employees or entering into negotiations with 
bus companies to extend an existing bus service to serve the development ; 

 Providing tele- and video-conferencing facilities to reduce the need for 
business travel; 

 Providing a pool car or car club vehicle for employees who need the use of a 
car during the working day; 

 Negotiating discounted public transport fares for employees; 

 Car Park management such as deliberately limiting staff parking or charging 
staff for car parking; 

 Establishing a car share scheme for employees and implementing priority 
parking spaces for car sharers; 

 Introducing flexible working arrangements, such as home working and 
flexitime working; 

 Introducing the HMRC’s Salary Sacrifice Schemes for buses, bicycles and 
home computers; 

 Raising awareness of the health, environmental and cost benefits of walking, 
cycling and using public transport; 

 Raising awareness of public transport serving the site and making public 
transport maps, timetables and leaflets available to staff and visitors. 

Residential Travel Plans should outline measures aimed at influencing the travel 
behaviour of new home owners to, from and within the development. These could 
include:

 Ensuring the development is well served by safe and pleasant walking and 
cycling routes; 

13

Page 281



14

 Entering into negotiations with bus operators to ensure that the development 
can be served by public transport if it is not at present;

 Distributing a welcome pack to new residents with maps showing local 
walking and cycling routes and local public transport maps, leaflets and 
timetables ; 

 Providing a car club vehicle(s) for residents to use; 

 Establishing a residents’ car share scheme; 

 Providing residents with 1 months’ free public transport tickets or a voucher 
for discounted walking or cycling goods.

Leisure Travel Plans may also be required for developments likely to generate a 
large volume of visitor journeys. Measures could include innovative marketing 
campaigns and initiatives for encouraging sustainable travel, such as limiting, or 
charging for, car parking, and ensuring the development is well served by walking, 
cycling and public transport links. 

A free online Travel Plan Builder is available (www.aberdeencitytravelplans.co.uk)
and officers in the Transportation Team are available to assist businesses and 
developers in the preparation of a Travel Plan. 

Monitoring and Evaluation 

Travel Plans should identify effective monitoring techniques and these will be agreed 
with the Council.  The Council will request updates from developers every two years 
on the implementation of the Travel Plan.  Legal Agreements may be required or 
planning conditions may be placed on planning applications to bind the targets set 
out in the Travel Plan and set the arrangements for monitoring, enforcement and 
review. More detailed guidance on what is expected as part of a Travel Plan will be 
available in Travel Plans: A Guide for Developers which is being prepared and will be 
published in 2012. 

Page 282



7. PARKING

Parking policy is an essential component of the City Council’s Local Transport 
Strategy. Parking price and availability can have a significant influence on the way 
that people choose to travel.

Adequate parking can enhance the attractiveness of an area for development and 
sufficient spaces are needed to prevent over-spill parking into surrounding areas 
especially if this will have a detrimental impact.  On the other hand, the over-
provision of parking spaces can involve large tracts of land and lead to increased 
land prices, reduce building densities and increase distances people must walk 
between adjacent land uses.  Over-provision of parking can also reduce travel by 
alternative forms of transport.

Parking standards must therefore reflect a balance of conflicting objectives. The 
standards in this document have been informed by the evidence of existing parking 
demands and take account of the potential requirement for parking spaces in the 
future given other policy measures to encourage the use of alternatives to cars. They 
also take account of the Scottish Government’s Scottish Planning Policy guidelines 
on parking standards.

The level of parking standards also relates to the location of the development. To 
encourage the use of alternatives to the car where accessibility is high by non-car 
modes, the maximum parking standards are lower. Three separate zones have 
been identified by the Council for the application of varying parking standards and 
these are described below and are shown in the map on Figure 3, page 18: 

Zone 1 is highly accessible by public transport and the density of population 
relative to the mixture of land uses (retailing, employment etc) allows for a 
large proportion of pedestrian and cycle journeys. On-street parking, public 
off-street parking and park and ride opportunities are also available. These 
factors allow for the lowest maximum levels of parking associated with new 
developments.

Zone 2 is relatively accessible by public transport and pay and display parking 
is available in most parts of the area for short stay use.

Zone 3 provides the third and least restrictive maximum standards as the area 
is less accessible by public transport and the distance from main residential 
areas may preclude walking and cycling on a significant scale.

Whilst the Local Transport Strategy seeks to reduce the amount of unnecessary car 
use and dependency, it maintains the right of individuals to own and keep cars at a 
residence.  In view of this, the parking standards for housing developments should be 
considered as guidelines.  Where development proposals include the provision of off-
street parking, the entitlement to on-street parking permits will be restricted.  Within 
all zones where development proposals include parking provision that is less than the 
guidelines for that Zone, developers will be expected to provide suitable alternatives 
such as bus permits and membership to car clubs. 

Different land use components in a mixed development should aim to share car 
parking provision when the demand for the different land uses is at different times of 
the day or week.  For example, parking provision at a school in the daytime could be 

15

Page 283



used for community and leisure facilities at evenings and weekends. Equally, office 
car parking spaces could be used by neighbouring residents and visitors during 
evenings and weekends when the business premises are unoccupied.

LOW AND NO CAR HOUSING 

Aberdeen City Council will support and encourage low or no car housing, recognising 
the contribution this can have towards sustainable development, where there is 
evidence that car ownership and use will be low enough to justify proposals, and 
where public transport and other travel options are sufficient to allow residents to rely 
wholly on them. 

It is vital that such development is located in an area of good existing public 
transport, cycle and pedestrian links, thus allowing a design that facilitates as many 
trips as possible to and from the development being made by modes other than the 
private car.

Such development is likely to be more successful in city centre locations, where there 
is already a high demand for car parking and good public transport links. 

The Council will consider the following issues in determining proposals for low or no 
car housing: 

 The development is mixed use and there are employment opportunities within 
walking and cycling distance of residential units; 

 The development is linked to the main road network by well lit, safe and 
pleasant footways or paths for pedestrians;

 The development is within 400m of the local cycle network and there is 
adequate bicycle parking available; and 

 There are at least 2 buses in each peak time quarter hour period serving, or 
stopping close by to, the development. 

Where development proposals are specifically put forward as low or no car housing, 
the entitlement to on-street parking permits will be restricted. 

The developer may also wish to establish a car club for the development, thus 
reducing the need for residents to own a private car in the first place.   There will 
always be a requirement for a minimum amount of disabled parking within the site. 

CAR CLUBS 

An alternative way for a developer to demonstrate a commitment to minimising car 
use is to enter into an agreement relating to a car club. Aberdeen City Council 
support, and will promote, the implementation and expansion of car clubs in 
Aberdeen City, especially in developments where there is significant potential to 
reduce the number of car trips. 

A car club is a scheme whereby a vehicle or vehicles are shared by a particular 
community, with members typically paying an annual membership fee which then 
provides them with access to a car on a ‘pay as you go’ basis (with the individual 
usually paying for use per mile or per hour). Such a system allows members of the 

16

Page 284



club to enjoy all the advantages and conveniences of car travel without them having 
to own a car themselves. 

Car club vehicles can act as pool vehicles for workplaces and can remove the need 
for householders in a residential development to own a car. Research shows that 
each car club vehicle typically replaces 6 private cars as club members refrain from 
buying or maintaining a second car or even choose not to own a car at all. 

Car clubs provide a means to reduce the number of parking spaces required for new 
developments and can be used to retrofit existing developments, allowing them to 
adopt more of a ‘Home Zone’ style approach. By reducing or eliminating the need for 
onsite parking many new developments are made possible and their traffic impact 
minimised.

Developers may choose to set up a car club solely for their development or to pay for 
membership of an existing car club for all residents and/or employees of the 
development. For a residential development to have a self-contained car club, 
guidance suggests that there should be at least 200 units. Developments which are 
smaller, or which have a mix of uses, can still include car clubs, although these may 
need to be open to other subscribers in the immediate local area. Shared residential 
and business membership could be one approach, as use of the vehicles for 
business journeys is likely to be more in demand during working hours on weekdays 
and domestic usage is likely to be more pronounced in evenings and weekends. 

In entering into a legal agreement to set up and/or promote a car club, the developer 
should ensure that the club is up and running from the very beginning of the 
occupation of the development. It should be offered to prospective members on 
favourable terms. A common requirement is free initial membership for three years. 
The developer should expect to contribute to the costs of setting up and promoting 
the club, as well as any traffic orders and works that might be necessary. The 
developer should guarantee the car club for a period of 10 years. 

PARKING STANDARDS 

This section addresses the following: 
• Non-residential parking (maximum standards) 
• Residential parking (guidelines)
• Disabled Badge Holders’ Parking (requirements)
• Delivery space (guidelines)

Car Parking Standards - Introduction

Figure 3 below shows the areas covered by each of the 3 parking standard zones.  
Please note the boundaries shown are indicative and subject to change through any 
updates to the Local Transport Strategy. 

17

Page 285



Figure 3 – Zones for Parking Standards 

Zone 3 Zone 2 Zone 1 

18

Page 286



19

For a change of use, developers should, in the first instance, take account of the 
standards shown in the following tables. This may mean increasing the number of 
spaces or possibly taking some away. Times of use of the existing and proposed 
land use(s) may be relevant to the need to provide extra parking. For instance a 
proposal for residential development in what is currently an office use may, on first 
consideration, require extra spaces. However, as residential parking demand tends 
to be mainly in an evening, it may be that the extra spaces could be accommodated 
elsewhere without road safety, amenity or other issues being raised.  

If a site is redeveloped in its entirety with existing buildings demolished and the site 
cleared then developers should be guided by the standards in the following tables.

Many development proposals contain a variety of types of land uses. When 
assessing these applications the developer will be required to take account of the 
shared use of the site particularly if the different land uses are in use at different 
times of the day.

Where parking standards in the following tables relate to Gross Floor Area (GFA) this 
should be measured to the outside of the external walls of the development and will 
include all public and privately accessible areas.

Where it is proposed to extend an existing building (or other land use) parking 
provision should be based on the Gross Floor Area of the existing plus proposed 
building area.  

Parking bays should generally be 2.5 x 5.0 metres with a 6.0 metre aisle width 
between bays. For nurseries or similar type of development where small children are 
to be dropped off, an extra 0.9 metres should be provided between spaces.

Where it is necessary to accommodate car parking within a private court, the parking 
must not dominate the space: no more than 50% of any court should be taken up by 
parking spaces and access roads.  This figure is a guideline and the planning 
authority reserves the right to consider each case on its particular merits.  In high 
density schemes it will be expected that underground or decked parking will be 
provided in order to achieve this. 

In order to contribute to the Scottish Government’s carbon reduction targets the 
Council will also encourage the provision of electric vehicle infrastructure as part of 
developments with associated off-street car parking.

Page 287



Non–residential car parking spaces – all maximum amounts 

1: RETAIL 

Land Use City Centre Inner City Outer City 

Food retail outlets (>1000m2 GFA) 1 per 40m2 1 per  22m2 1 per 14m2 

Non-food retail outlets (>1000m2 GFA) 1 per 50m2 1 per 30m2 1 per 20m2 

Food/non-food retail outlets (<1000m2 GFA) 1 per 70m2 1 per 40m2 1 per 30m2 

Motor trade (including vehicle display area, spares dept, 
servicing, tyre and exhaust centre) 

0.5/1 staff; 1 
per 50m2 
vehicle
display area; 
1 per 50m2 
spares 
department; 
3/servicing 
bay, 2/tyre 
and exhaust 
bay

0.5/1 staff; 1 
per 33m2 
vehicle
display 
area; 1 per 
25m2
spares 
departments
; 3/servicing 
bay, 2/tyre 
and exhaust 
bay

0.5/1 staff; 1 
per 33m2 
vehicle
display area; 
1 per 25m2 
spares 
departments; 
3/servicing 
bay, 2/tyre 
and exhaust 
bay

Petrol Filling Stations (note retail element assessed 
separately) 

1 per 2 staff 1 per 2 staff 1 per 2 staff 

2. FINANCE, PROFESSIONAL AND OTHER SERVICES 

Land use City 
Centre 

Inner City Outer 
City 

1 per 
90m2

1 per 
62m2

1 per 
40m2

Banks, Building Societies, etc. 

3. FOOD AND DRINK 

Land use City 
Centre 

Inner City Outer 
City 

Restaurants and cafes 1 per 
40m2

1 per 
17m2

1 per 
12.5m2

Pubs/clubs/discos/bars 1 per 
40m2

1 per 
25m2

1 per 
12.5m2

Take-away 1 per 
33m2

1 per 
33m2

1 per 
33m2

1 per 
10m2

1 per 
10m2

1 per 
10m2

Drive Through Restaurants – requires adequate 
queuing space

4. BUSINESS 

Land use City 
Centre 

Inner City Outer 
City 

1 per 
80m2

1 per 
50m2

1 per 
30m2

Offices 

5. GENERAL INDUSTRIAL 

Land use City 
Centre 

Inner City Outer 
City 

1 per 
100m2

1 per 
55m2

1 per 
40m2

Industrial premises (excluding motor vehicle 
workshops) 

6. STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION 

Land use City 
Centre 

Inner City Outer 
City 

Warehousing – storage and distribution 1 per 
300m2

1 per 
167m2

1 per 
100m2

1 per 
100m2

Warehousing – wholesale trading 1 per 
72m2

1 per 
50m2

20

Page 288



7. HOTELS, HOSTELS 

Land use City 
Centre 

Inner City Outer City 

Hotels, boarding houses, guest houses, and motels 
(restaurant and conference facilities counted 
separately)

0.6 per 
bedroom

0.75 per 
bedroom

1 per 
bedroom

8. NON-RESIDENTIAL INSTITUTIONS 

Land use City 
Centre 

Inner City Outer City 

Nursery and Primary Schools 0.8 per 
staff 

0.8 per 
staff 

0.8 per 
staff 

Higher and Further Education 0.5 per 
staff plus 1 
per 15 
students 

0.5 per 
staff plus 1 
per 15 
students 

0.5 per 
staff plus 1 
per 15 
students 

Public Library 1 per 
90m2

1 per 
57m2

1 per 
36m2

Public hall/Function room 1 per 
50m2

1 per 
27m2

1 per 
18m2

Religious Institution 0.5 spaces 
per 10 
seats 

1 space 
per 10 
seats 

1 space 
per 10 
seats 

Medical Centres/Vets/Dentists 3  per 
consulting 
room plus 
0.5 per 
staff 

3  per 
consulting 
room plus 
0.5 per 
staff 

3 per 
consulting 
room plus 
0.5 per 
staff 

Merit (but 
will require 
Travel
Plan)

Merit (but 
will require 
Travel
Plan)

Merit (but 
will require 
Travel
Plan)

Hospitals 

9. ASSEMBLY AND LEISURE 

Land use City 
Centre 

Inner City Outer 
City 

Conference Centre  1 per 10 
seats 

1 per 7.5 
seats 

1 per 5 
seats 

Cinema/Concert hall/Theatre/Bingo hall 1 per 12 
seats 

1 per 8 
seats 

1 per 5 
seats 

Stadium 1 per 20 
seats 

1 per 20 
seats 

1 per 15 
seats 

1 per 
30m2

1 per 
22m2

1 per 
22m2

Sports centre/facility 

Residential Car Parking Standards

These should be treated as guidelines, rather than maximums.  The level of parking 
proposed in a new development will need to be agreed with the Planning Authority. 

Residential Car Parking Standards – all guidelines 

DWELLINGS 

Land use City 
Centre 

Inner City Outer City 

Residential Dwellings 1.5
allocated
space per 
dwelling

1.75
allocated
space per 
dwelling

2 allocated 
spaces per 
dwelling
(up to 3 

21

Page 289



(up to 3 
bedrooms),
2 per 
dwelling (4 
or more 
bedrooms)

(up to 3 
bedrooms), 
2 per 
dwelling (4 
bedrooms) 

bedrooms), 
3 per 
dwelling (4 
bedrooms). 

1 bedroom flat (no designated spaces) 1 per unit 1 per unit 1.5 per unit 

2 bedroom flat (no designated spaces) 1.5 per unit 1.75 per 
unit

2 per unit 

3 bedroom flat (no designated spaces) 1.5 per unit 1.75 per 
unit

2 per unit 

Housing Association/Social Housing (rented 
only) 

0.8 per unit 0.8 per unit 0.8 per unit 

Special Needs Housing 1 per 
resident 
staff 
member
plus 1 per 
8 residents 

1 per 
resident 
staff 
member
plus 1 per 
8 residents 

1 per 
resident 
staff 
member
plus 1 per 
8 residents 

Sheltered Housing/Care Home/Nursing Home 1 per 
resident 
staff 
member
plus 1 per 
8 residents 

1 per 
resident 
staff 
member
plus 1 per 
3 residents 

1 per 
resident 
staff 
member
plus 1 per 
3 residents 

1 per 
resident 
staff 
member
plus 1 per 
10
students 

1 per 
resident 
staff 
member
plus 1 per 
10
students 

1 per 
resident 
staff 
member
plus 1 per 
10
students 

Purpose Built Student Accommodation 

Disabled Badge Holders’ Parking – all requirements  

Reserved disabled parking should be provided as per the following table. Please note 
that these are minimum standards.

Disabled Badge Holders Parking 

Car park size up to 200 spaces Car park maximum standard 
size over 200 spaces 

Employment Uses 1 space per disabled employee 
plus 2 spaces or 5% of the total 
number of spaces in the car 
park or whichever is greater 

6 spaces plus 2% of the total 
number of spaces in the car 
park

Retail, Leisure and Recreation 
Uses  

3 spaces or 6% of the total 
number of spaces in the car 
park or whichever is greater 

4 spaces plus 4% of the total 
number of spaces in the car 
park

Spaces for drivers with a disability should generally be 2.5 x 5.0 metres with a 0.9 
metre strip between adjacent spaces to allow access for wheelchairs.  These spaces 
should, where possible, be located within 50 metres of the entrance to buildings to 
assist accessibility. 

Delivery/loading/unloading Parking Standards – all guidelines

These standards apply to spaces required for vehicles regularly and necessarily 
involved in the servicing of businesses or other buildings. It includes space for 

22

Page 290



commercial vehicles delivering goods or collecting goods from premises and space 
for loading and unloading.

Details of operational parking requirements should be considered as guidelines. 
Where no operational requirement is specified requirements will be considered on a 
case by case basis. However, it is important where possible that loading and other 
servicing facilities are provided on site to prevent delivery vehicles queuing or using 
on-street locations to load and unload. 

Delivery/loading and unloading parking standards 

1. RETAIL 

Land Use 

Food retail outlets (>1000m2 GFA) Assessed on merit 

Non-food retail outlets (>1000m2 GFA) Assessed on merit 

Food/non-food retail outlets (<1000m2 GFA) Assessed on merit 

Motor trade (including vehicle display area, 
spares dept, servicing, tyre and exhaust centre) 

Assessed on merit 

2. FINANCE, PROFESSIONAL AND OTHER SERVICES 

Land Use 

Banks, Building Societies etc.  Assessed on merit 

3. FOOD AND DRINK 

Land Use 

Restaurants and cafes Assessed on merit 

Pubs/clubs/discos/bars Assessed on merit 

Take-away Assessed on merit 

Drive Through Restaurants  Assessed on merit 

4. BUSINESS 

Land Use 

Offices Assessed on merit 

5. GENERAL INDUSTRIAL 

Land Use  

Industrial premises (excluding motor vehicle 
workshops) 

1 loading bay up to 500m2 GFA, 2 loading bays 
between 500m2 and 2500m2 GFA and 3 loading 
bays over 2500m2 

6. STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION 

Land Use  

Warehousing (storage and distribution and 
wholesale trading) 

1 loading bay up to 500m2 GFA, 2 loading bays 
between 500m2 and 2500m2 GFA and 3 loading 
bays over 2500m2 

7. HOTELS, HOSTELS 

Land Use  

Hotels, boarding houses, guest houses, and 
motels (restaurant and conference facilities 
counted separately) 

1 loading bay, and coach spaces will be required 
for hotels with more than 50 bedrooms 

8. NON RESIDENTIAL INSTITUTIONS 

Land use 

Nursery and Primary Schools Pick-up/set down facilities for school buses and 
cars 

Higher and Further Education Pick-up/set down facilities for school buses and 
cars 

Public Library Space for mobile library van as appropriate 

23

Page 291



Public hall/Function room Provision for a coach 

9. ASSEMBLY AND LEISURE 

Land Use 

Conference Centre  1 coach space per 50 seats 

Cinema/Concert hall/Theatre/Bingo hall A space for coaches/cars to pick up and set down 
as appropriate 

Stadium Provision for coaches-to be assessed with Travel 
Plan and accessibility 

Sports centre/facility Provision for coaches-to be assessed with Travel 
Plan and accessibility 

Motorcycle Parking Standards 

Motorcycle parking should be considered early in the design process. Facilities 
should be conveniently located, adequately lit, well signed, secure and vandal proof. 
It is also important that facilities are not placed in dark recesses or at the rear of car 
parks where they are less likely to be used. They should be located as close as 
possible to building entrances, ideally overlooked from a building or in the clear view 
of pedestrians.

Wall loops or fixing devices anchored in or adjacent to the road can provide secure 
anchor points for motorcycles. These need to be robust in order to prevent them from 
being lifted out of the ground or cut with cutting tools. The anchor point should be 
compatible with a wide range of bike types and locking devices. A height of 600mm 
will accommodate a range of wheel sizes and helps prevent thieves from using the 
ground as leverage for bolt cutters and jacks. The anchor points should be located 
and designed in positions that do not pose a hazard to partially sighted or disabled 
people. Motorcycle bays may also be acceptable. 

Motorcycle Parking Standards – all minimums

Land use Motorcycle parking provisions 

1. RETAIL 

Food Retail Outlets (›500m2 GFA) 1 per 1500m2 with a minimum of 1 space for staff and 1 
space for customers 

Non-Food Retail Outlets (›500m2 GFA) 1 per 1500m2 with a minimum of 1 space for staff and 1 
space for customers 

Food/Non-Food Retail Outlets (‹500m2 
GFA)

1 space for staff and 1 space for customers 

2. FINANCIAL, PROFESSIONAL AND OTHER SERVICES 

Banks, Building Societies, etc. 1 per 1200m2 with a minimum of 1 space for staff and 1 
space for customers 

3. FOOD AND DRINK 

Restaurants and cafes 

Pubs and Winebars 

1 per 300m2 public area with a minimum of 1 space for 
staff and 1 space for customers 

Fast food Takeaway 

4. BUSINESSES 

Offices 1 per 1000m2 for employees and 1 per 4000m2 for 
visitors 

5. GENERAL INDUSTRIAL  

Industrial premises 1 per 2000m2 for employees and 1 per 8000m2 for 
visitors 

6. STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION 

Warehousing 1 per 6000m2 for employees and 1 per 16000m2 for 
visitors 

24

Page 292



7. HOTELS, HOSTELS 

Hotels, boarding houses, guest houses, 
and motels 

1 per 15 bedrooms with a minimum of 1 space for 
customers and 1 space for staff 

8. NON RESIDENTIAL INSTITUTIONS 

Primary School 1 per 8 staff with a minimum of 1  

Secondary School 1 per 8 staff with a minimum of 1  

College/University 1 per 8 staff with a minimum of 2  

Medial Centre 1 per 25 parking spaces with a minimum of 1 space for 
staff and 1 space for customers. 

9. ASSEMBLY AND LEISURE 

Public Library 

Cinema/Concert Hall/Theatre/Bingo Hall 

Conference Centre 

1 per 25 parking spaces with a minimum of 1 space for 
staff and 1 space for customers. 

Public Hall 

Stadium

Sports Centre/facility 

10. RESIDENTIAL INSTITUTIONS 

Special Needs Housing 1 visitor space per 25 units with a minimum of 1 space 
and 1 space per 25 staff with a minimum of 1 

Sheltered Housing/Care Home/Nursing 
Home

1 visitor space per 25 units with a minimum of 1 space 
and 1 space per 25 staff with a minimum of 1 

Hospitals Assessed individually - a Travel Plan will be required. 

Purpose Built Student Accommodation 1 per 25 beds and 1 per 25 staff with a minimum of 1 
space for staff and 1 space for students 

Flats (<6) 

Flats (7-10) 

1 space per 8 flats with a minimum of 1 

Flats (11-15) 

Flats (15-25) 

Flats (26-30) 

Flats (31+) 

Cycle Parking Standards 

It is important that developers provide secure cycle parking at each new 

development, whether that be at a place of work or residence, so that individuals can 

make a choice of whether they wish to cycle to work with the knowledge that their 

bike will be secure at both ends of the journey. 

This Guidance will be applied to: 

 New developments and extensions to existing developments; 

 Conversion of existing buildings involving a change of use; and

 Material changes of use 

The location and provision of cycle parking facilities differs between short and long 

stay.  Drawings submitted for a planning application should clearly indicate the 

number of spaces available for bicycles, and 

For short stay: 

 Precise location 

 Design (usually Sheffield stand) as defined in ‘Key Elements of Cycle Parking 

Provision’ 

For long stay: 

 Internal building location or 

25

Page 293



 External location and design 

Short Stay Parking 

Short stay cycle parking is for visitors and/ or customers.  This type of facility should 

be located in a safe, convenient, accessible and prominent position, preferably on-

site and adjacent to the entrance of a building, and an absolute maximum of 50m 

from the entrance. Buildings with more than one entrance should either have cycle 

parking readily accessible from every entrance, or a smaller number of facilities 

should be located at each entrance.

The facility should be well signed and either lit, or placed close to a source of light.  If 

possible, it should be monitored by closed circuit television and be visible to on-site 

security staff.  As weather protection for cycle parking is highly desirable developers 

will need to consider this at an early stage in the design of new developments.  The 

facility should be located so as not to cause an obstruction to pedestrians or partially 

sighted people.  For short stay parking, Sheffield stands are recommended for most 

types of development.  Wall loops may be acceptable in certain circumstances, for 

instance in areas where pavement widths are restricted.  It should be noted however 

that stands that support the bicycle by one wheel only are NOT satisfactory. 

Long Stay Parking 

Long stay parking should be provided where cycle parking is required in excess of six 

hours, this includes residential, office and hotel developments.  More secure facilities 

in the form of cycle cages or lockable compounds should be provided.  These must 

be covered.  Alternatively, secure compounds within buildings may be acceptable, 

provided they are located at ground level and are accessible.  The compound must 

be under continuous supervision or have a shared key arrangement where each 

cyclist has a key to the outer door.  Sheffield stands should also be provided within 

the bike store for increased security.  On larger sites, small clusters of cycle parking 

facilities are preferable to large, central parking compounds. 

Individual lockable facilities are a preference at residential developments, however 

there is a realisation that these will take up a greater footprint compared to a cycle 

compound.  Aberdeen City Council will therefore look for flatted developments of six 

flats and under to contain individual lockable facilities at a ratio of one space per flat, 

which will take up approximately the same footprint as one car parking space.  

Where higher density developments take place with limited, or no car parking, the 

expectation is that the ratio of flats to cycle parking is also one to one. 

Sheffield Stand Specifications 

The material and finish of stands can vary greatly, and only the higher specification of 

stainless steel and galvanised, powder or nylon coated should be used.

Stands should be 750mm high and a minimum of 750mm long.  The frame of the 

stand should have a minimum outer diameter of 42mm.  A desirable minimum 

26

Page 294



distance of 1000mm should be provided between stands to accommodate two cycles 

per stand.  Stand ends should either be embedded in concrete, bolted into the 

ground or welded to parallel bars at ground level to form a ‘toast’ rack system.  

Adequate space should be provided at either end of the stand to enable cycles to be 

easily removed. The diagram below indicates the necessary dimensions for Sheffield 

stands and the amount of space required around each stand. 

Figure 4 – Sheffield Stand Dimensions 

Cycle Parking Standards 

Please note that without exception, a minimum of two short stay stands, or four cycle 
parking spaces, should be provided with all types of use.  Within the centre of town, if 
the entrance of a development is located within 50m of city centre cycle parking 
stands these can be included as part of the short stay cycle spaces required in the 
development quota. 

Land use Cycle parking provision 

1. RETAIL 

Food Retail Outlets (›500m2 GFA) 1 per 250m2 

Non-Food Retail Outlets (›500m2 GFA) 1 per 300m2 

Food/Non-Food Retail Outlets (‹500m2 gfa) 1 per 300m2 

2. FINANCIAL, PROFESSIONAL AND OTHER 
SERVICES

Banks, Building Societies, etc. 1 per 250m2 

3. FOOD AND DRINK 

Restaurants and cafes 1 per 10 staff; 1 per 20 seats 

Pubs and Winebars 1 per 100m2 

Fast food Takeaway 1 per 50m2 

27

Page 295



28

4. BUSINESSES 

Offices 1 per 300m2 

5. GENERAL INDUSTRIAL  

Industrial premises 1 per 500m2 

6. STORAGE AND DISTRIBUTION 

Warehousing 1 per 1000m2 

7. HOTELS, HOSTELS 

Hotels, boarding houses, guest houses, and 
motels

1 per 10 staff 

8. NON RESIDENTIAL INSTITUTIONS 

Primary School 1 per 10 staff or students 

Secondary School 1 per 10 staff or students 

College/University 1 per 8 staff or students 

Medical Centre 1 per 20 staff plus 1 per 20 staff for visitors 

9. ASSEMBLY AND LEISURE 

Public Library 1 per 20 staff plus 1 per 10 staff for visitors 

Cinema/Concert Hall/Theatre/Bingo Hall 1 per 10 staff plus 1 per 20 peak period 
visitors 

Conference Centre 1 per 50 seats for staff plus 1 per 50 seats for 
visitors 

Public Hall 1 per 10 staff plus 1 per 20 peak period 
visitors 

Stadium 1 per 10 staff plus 1 per 20 peak period 
visitors 

Sports Centre/facility 1 per 10 staff plus 1 per 20 peak period 
visitors 

10. RESIDENTIAL INSTITUTIONS 

Special Needs Housing 1 per 10 staff 

Sheltered Housing/Care Home/Nursing Home 1 per 10 staff 

Hospitals 1 per 20 staff plus 1 per 20 staff for visitors 

Purpose Built Student Accommodation 1 per 3 students 

Flats (<6) 1 per flat 

Flats (7-10) 1 per 1 flats 

Flats (11-15) 1 per 1 flats 

Flats (15-25) 1 per 1 flats 

Flats (26-30) 1 per 1 flats 

Flats (31+) 1 per 1 flats 

Where a planning application for the intensification of an existing use or a change of 
use is made, there could be a need to provide additional cycle parking on the site in 
line with the standards.  If there is no room for facilities to be provided on-site, the 
planning authority may ask for appropriate facilities to be provided off-site. Such 
provision should be within 50 metres of the development.

Page 296



8. PARKING IN CONSERVATION AREAS

Introduction

Large parts of Aberdeen, mainly to the south and west of the city centre, have been 
designated as conservation areas in order to protect and, where possible, enhance 
their architectural character and environmental amenity. 

The typical layout of most of these areas consists of broad streets, often tree lined, 
occasionally having service roads and gardens between the street and the buildings.  
The buildings may vary in size and style, but generally they have small front gardens 
and long walled gardens to the rear, frequently accessed from a rear lane running 
parallel to the street. 

The increasing demand for off street parking brought about by ever expanding car 
ownership, and the introduction of traffic management schemes, generates pressure 
for car parking in garden areas, both to the front and rear of commercial and 
residential properties in conservation areas.

Statutory and Other Requirements 

In conservation areas, planning permission is required to form a car park within a 
front or rear garden, and in some situations, conservation area consent may also be 
required where the proposals entail demolition work. Planning permission is also 
required to form a car park within the curtilage of a listed building, whilst listed 
building consent is required if any structure within the curtilage of a listed building is 
to be altered or removed. In all cases, including those where no planning or listed 
building consents are required, there is a requirement to apply to the City Council to 
form a footway crossing. Applicants should contact the Planning Authority at the 
earliest opportunity. 

Trees in conservation areas are statutorily protected, and their removal without prior 
consent from the Council constitutes an offence, as does the removal of any tree that 
is protected by a tree preservation order.  Consent is also required before any work, 
such as lopping or thinning, is carried out to a protected tree. 

Removal of existing parking spaces

Whilst generally the pressure from property owners is to create additional car parking 
space, there may be an occasion when an owner will wish to convert existing parking 
space back to landscaping.  Residents will be encouraged to restore private car 
parking in conservation areas to its original use as garden space, to help restore the 
character of an area. The condition to this is that the planning authority must be 
satisfied that any loss of off-street parking will not have a detrimental effect on road 
safety.

PARKING IN FRONT GARDENS

The conversion of front gardens for car parking will only be permitted where: 

 the site is  outwith the West End Office Area; 

 rear garden parking is not an option; 

 where there are no implications for road safety; 

29

Page 297



 where there is no impact on significant street or garden trees; and 

 where on-street parking is readily available in the vicinity. 

Other situations will be considered on their own merit, but with the provision that the 
garden will have to be large enough to take a single car whilst leaving a reasonable 
space between the parked car and the house, and at least 50% of the garden ground 
for soft landscaping.   A detailed list of the criteria for assessing proposals for new 
driveways are set out below. 

Road Safety 
All applications to form a driveway must be assessed against road safety 
standards to ensure they do not present hazards to other road users or 
pedestrians.

Definitions of Road Types
A Classified Road is a highway which has been identified as being of 
importance for the movement of traffic. Classifications given are Class A, B or 
C, and any new access onto a classified road requires planning permission.
Primary Distributor Roads form the primary network for the urban area and 
comprise trunk roads and important classified roads. All Trunk Roads are 
Class A. District Distributor Roads may be class A, B or C whilst Local 
Distributor Roads may be Class B or C, but are generally unclassified. Trunk 
Roads and Primary Routes are shown in the Finalised Aberdeen Local Plan in 
the Additional City Wide Proposals maps. 

Access onto Classified Roads
There is a presumption against granting planning permission for a driveway 
onto a trunk road or primary distributor road. On district distributor roads there 
is also a presumption against granting consent for driveways, but this may be 
relaxed provided the proposal meets road safety criteria, and vehicles are 
able to enter and exit the parking area in forward gear. Local distributor roads 
are treated similarly to district distributors but without the requirement to enter 
and exit in forward gear. 

Visibility 
Driveways must be positioned to allow adequate visibility, particularly on busy 
pedestrian routes, in accordance with national standards. 

Proximity to Road Junctions
Driveways will not normally be closer to a junction than 15 metres, although 
this may be relaxed if the road is lightly trafficked. 

Footpath Crossings
No more than one footpath crossing per property will be permitted, except in 
situations where a large house may have a long frontage when an ‘in’ and 
‘out’ may be acceptable. 

Driveways
Driveways must be at least 5.0 metres in length, and new houses must have a 
driveway of at least 6.0 metres. Where, however, a driveway is more than 7.0 
metres long, it must be at least 10.0 metres in length to prevent the possibility 

30

Page 298



of two cars being parked, with the second car overhanging the footpath. The 
gradient of the driveway must not normally exceed 1:20, although 1:15 may 
be acceptable in some circumstances, depending on the surface texture 
employed. The first two metres of the driveway adjacent to the footpath must 
not be surfaced with loose material such as gravel, to prevent material being 
carried onto the footpath or roadway. The driveway must be drained internally, 
with no surface water discharging onto the roadway. A driveway might not be 
permitted if it is accessed from a ‘Pay and Display Area’, or via a parking lay-
by, where the lay-by is regularly occupied. 

Planning Criteria in relation to Parking in Front Gardens
Planning criteria considered when assessing whether consent may be granted 
for parking in front gardens of listed buildings or buildings in conservation 
areas. Similar criteria apply to front gardens of flats. 

General Criteria
1. No more than 35% of the front garden area may be given over for the 
combined parking area, driveway and any turning area, or 50% if footpaths 
and other hard surfaced areas are included. At least 50%  of the garden area 
should be left in topsoil to permit soft landscaping. 
2. Where the property originally had cast iron railings, their reinstatement will 
be encouraged to lessen the impact of parked cars, failing which some other 
form of enclosure will be required, or appropriate soft landscaping. 
3. The formation of the access driveway or parking area must not result in the 
loss of any street trees or significant garden trees. 
4. Consent will not be granted where the property has a rear garden area, 
suitable for parking, which is accessible from a rear lane or side street. 
5. Where the garden is owned by more than one resident, owners will not be 
permitted a separate driveway and parking area each unless they can be 
achieved without fragmenting the garden or unduly reducing on-street 
parking. A communal driveway and parking area may be permissible provided 
they occupy no more than 35% of the front garden, or 50% if footpaths and 
other hard surfaced areas are included. 
6. Where the building is in multiple ownership, the formation of an access 
driveway for one or more owners should not result in any of the remaining 
owners having no opportunity to park in the street adjacent to their property. 
7. Consent will not normally be granted for parking in garden areas in front of 
tenement flats. 

Situations where classification of road and location of driveway permits
reversing out from the parking area
1. The parking area should be no closer to the front wall of the property than 
1.0 metre. 
2. The driveway must be no wider than 3.0 metres, or 3.5 metres if combined 
with the footpath. 

Situations where classification of road permits garden parking provided 
it can be entered and exited in forward gear
1. The parking and turning areas should be no closer to the front wall of the 
property than 1.0 metre. 
2. The design of any turning area should be such that it can be used only for 
turning and not as additional parking area. 

31

Page 299



3. Suitable landscaping should be provided to screen both parking and turning 
areas, and generally to soften the intrusive effect of cars parked in front of the 
property.

Sketch layout of smallest front garden capable of accepting a single car parking 
space whilst retaining 50% garden ground for soft landscaping. 
Total area + 51m2approx 
Total area of landscaping = 25m2approx

32

Page 300



PARKING IN REAR GARDENS  

In certain areas of the City, where rear lanes provide access to back gardens, it may 
be acceptable to convert part of these back gardens to car parks. In order to 
preserve as much as possible of the amenity provided by these gardens, the area 
given over to parking will be the minimum required to provide no more than one car 
space for each flat, and the treatment of other areas, including boundary walls, 
landscaped areas and screen planting, will require careful consideration.  In the case 
of houses, or houses which have been subdivided into a small number of flats, it may 
be easier to provide parking space, as most rear gardens will be able to 
accommodate a small number of cars, whilst still leaving a good proportion of garden 
ground unaffected. 

General requirements for Parking areas in Gardens

1. The car park should be internally drained and should incorporate Sustainable 
Urban Drainage Systems to deal with surface water run off. 

2. Parking spaces should be delineated on the site.  

Parking Layout in Rear Gardens 

Where car parks in rear areas are permissible, their layout will vary depending on the 
site characteristics and parking requirements. A high priority is placed on retaining 
significant trees, original outbuildings such as stables or coach houses, boundary 
features such as granite walling and even changes in level which add interest to the 
site.

Parking bays should be 5.0 metres by 2.5 metres, and access aisles around 6.0 
metres wide. Adequate space should be allowed to permit turning entirely within the 
site. A generous space of around 5.0 metres should be allowed between the parking 
area and the rear lane to permit adequate landscaping, and for trees to develop 
without threatening boundary walls. 

33

Page 301



Surfacing of Parking Areas 

An area of granite setts or other similar finish is required at the entrance to the car 
park, to provide an identifiable boundary between the lane and the car park and to 
retain any loose materials which may be used to surface the car park. The parking 
surface may be constructed in a variety of durable materials such as block pavers, 
tarmac or gravel. Water bound materials such as clay and sand based hoggin or 
granite dust are temporary measures which are not acceptable. Where the surface of 
the parking area is to be gravel, the length of granite setts or similar material at the 
entrance to the car park must be at least 2metres, to prevent gravel being dragged 
onto the public road or lane.

Rear Boundary Walls 

Boundary walls are generally around two metres high, built of granite pinnings or 
granite rubble, usually left exposed but occasionally harled. They will normally have a 
granite or red brick-on- edge coping. Openings formed in rear boundary walls should 
be of a width of around 3.5 metres to allow vehicular access. A length of boundary 
wall on each side of the opening will likely have to be reduced in height to permit 
visibility in each direction for parking areas serving commercial premises or more 
than a single residential unit. Beyond this the wall must step back up to its original 
height, to provide a degree of screening of the car park. Materials matching the 
original should be used in any alterations to boundary walls. 

34

Page 302



Gates

Close-boarded timber pedestrian pass gates, or vehicular gates to a single 
residential unit, either stained or painted and constructed to the same height as the 
boundary wall, are a common feature of these lanes, and provide reasonable security 
and privacy. Cast and wrought iron or mild steel gates can be used at entrances to 
commercial premises or flatted developments, and can be effectively employed in 
conjunction with railings on top of an adjacent lowered wall. Ornate scrollwork is 
however, alien to Aberdeen’s special architectural character, particularly in the 
context of rear or service lanes, and ought to be avoided. Gates must always open 
into the garden rather than into the lane. 

Trees and Landscaping in Rear Gardens

Where rear garden ground is to be given over for car parking there will be an 
inevitable loss of amenity space, or potential amenity space where the ground in 
question has been neglected. This type of space is of great importance for visual 
stimulation, wildlife, air quality, sustainable drainage, and practical and leisure uses 
such as clothes drying or simply gardening and sitting outdoors. The area given over 
for parking should therefore, be kept to an absolute minimum. In order that garden 
ground remains the dominant feature of the garden it is suggested that no more than 
45%-50% be given over for parking and other areas of hard surfacing, although these 
percentages may increase slightly in flatted situations to allow one parking space per 
flat. Where consent is given for the formation of parking area in garden ground, it will 
be a condition of that consent, that the remainder of the garden will be landscaped in 
accordance with an approved scheme. It is a normal requirement of such conditions 
that the landscaping be maintained for a period of five years following the 
implementation of the landscaping.  

The Council has a statutory duty to have regard to the preservation of existing trees 
and to require the planting of new trees in appropriate circumstances. In that respect 
it should be noted that trees within conservation areas are statutorily protected, and 
that it is an offence to remove a protected tree before express consent has been 
granted by the City Council. A tree survey is required if there are any trees over 
75mm in diameter at chest height. Existing trees contribute greatly to the 
attractiveness and character of a locality, and must be retained and protected from 
any damaging construction activities. An area no less than half the tree height or 
canopy spread, whichever is the greater, (British Standard 5837; Trees in Relation to 
Construction), must be kept free of any disturbance such as changes in ground 
levels, excavation and compaction. Where there is insufficient space to comply with 
the British Standard, encroachment into the protected area will be permissible only if 
it can be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the planning authority, that the proposal 
can be carried out in a manner which will not cause damage to the trees, or 
detrimentally affect their setting.

The council will normally require the planting of new trees as part of proposals for the 
landscaping of parking areas. Such trees can be particularly effective when planted 
just inside the feu, near the rear lane. The species of tree chosen should be the 
largest type suitable for the particular site, as these will tend to produce the greatest 
impact and environmental benefits. Native species of trees should be used where 
suitable.

35

Page 303



Lock-up Garages in Rear Gardens

The formation of lock-up garages off rear lanes, serving houses or a small number of 
flats, can usually be achieved satisfactorily. The design and positioning of the garage 
should be given careful consideration, particularly with regard to the effect the garage 
will have on the appearance of the lane. Where, as in most situations, the garage 
opens onto the lane, the outer wall of the garage should be on the same line as the 
garden wall, and not recessed back from it, as this helps to maintain the delineation 
of the lane. This may affect the choice of garage door as it is not acceptable for the 
door to encroach onto the lane as it is opened. 

The formation of ranks of garages in the rear gardens of tenements has an extremely 
detrimental effect on the appearance of rear garden areas, and will not normally be 
permitted. They occupy more garden ground than simple parking spaces. They also 
protrude above garden walls and cannot easily be screened by trees or other 
landscaping measures. It is virtually impossible to recreate any sense of enclosure in 
these situations, and the turning space in front of the garages tend to become 
desolate areas which attract vandalism. Additionally the formation of banks of 
garages can greatly increase the built footprint of the feu to the extent that it could 
push it over the 33% maximum area which is generally considered permissible to be 
developed.  

36

Page 304



9. DRIVEWAYS GUIDE

These guidelines have been prepared to advise householders on the consents that 
are required from the Council if they are proposing to build a driveway. 

In seeking consent for a new driveway applicants (householders) should note that it 
is possible that up to three separate consents may be required including: 

 Planning Permission (Town and Country Planning Scotland Act 1997 [as 
amended by the Planning etc Scotland Act 2006]) 

 Road Consent (Roads Scotland Act 1984)  

 Landlord’s Consent 

Planning Permission 

Reasons for requiring planning permission include: 

 The property is a flat;  

 construction work involves over 0.5 metres of earthworks [excavation or 
raising of ground level];

 the verge to the footway has grass over 2.5 metres wide;

 the driveway accesses on to a classified road*; 

 the property is a listed building or is situated in a conservation area. 

Permission will not be granted for a driveway across an amenity area or road side 
verge unless it would produce a demonstrable improvement in road safety and have 
no adverse effect on the amenity of the area. 

*Local authorities are obliged to consult Transport Scotland, the trunk road authority, 
when they receive planning applications for any development that lies within 67 
metres of the trunk road or where there may be any impact on traffic using the trunk 
road network.

Roads Consent

Permission will always be required from the Council for the installation of a driveway.  
If the driveway is the subject of a planning application then roads issues will be dealt 
with as part of the planning process, otherwise an application is made direct to the 
Roads Authority for permission to construct the access.  Applications which affect the 
trunk road network may be referred to Transport Scotland for a recommendation. 

The following conditions should be met to comply with the Roads Authority 
requirements and standards. These conditions apply to all driveway applications, 
including those that do not require an application for planning permission.  

Length of the Driveway 

The length of the driveway must be a minimum of 5 metres. This is considered to be 
the minimum length which will accommodate the average car, without overhanging 
the footway. Vehicles that overhang the footway cause a road safety hazard to 
pedestrians, especially young children and those with a disability.  

37

Page 305



Driveways in new houses must have a minimum length of 6 metres. If a driveway 
application is longer than 7 metres, it must then be at least 10 metres long. This 
requirement is to prevent two cars parking with the second car overhanging the 
footway.

These standards are set for the average length of car and it is noted that some 
smaller cars are less than this standard. However once permission is granted the 
Council has no control over what type of car might use the driveway and it must 
therefore consider not only the existing use, but also the future use of the site.   
Driveways, which do not meet the minimum specified length of 5 metres, will be 
refused.

Visibility 

Driveways must be positioned to enable the required visibility, including pedestrian 
visibility, to be achieved in accordance with National Standards. Visibility is 
particularly important on popular pedestrian routes and near schools. A driveway 
should also meet the public road at right angles and a vehicle should be able to enter 
and exit the driveway at right angles to the road, so that a driver can see clearly in 
both directions without having to turn round excessively.   Driveways which do not 
meet the minimum requirements for visibility will be refused.

Distance from a Junction

Driveways should be a minimum of 15 metres from a junction, although there may be 
circumstances where this may be relaxed on lightly trafficked roads. 

Number of Footway Crossings per Property 

In general only one footway crossing per property is allowed. This is to avoid a 
proliferation of crossings, causing a road safety hazard to pedestrians. In some 
situations this may be relaxed, for example at large houses with a long frontage 
where an “in” and an “out” may be permitted.  Where properties have suitable 
existing facilities at the rear of the property it is unlikely that permission will be 
granted for further crossings at the front of the building. 

Access from Parking Lay-bys 

A driveway will not generally be permitted if access is taken from a parking lay-by, 
which is regularly in use. Similarly access from a “Pay and Display” area may also 
be refused.

Gradient

The gradient of a driveway should generally not exceed 1 in 20 although this may be 
relaxed in certain circumstances to a maximum of 1 in 15, provided suitable 
measures such as nonslip surfacing are employed. It is acknowledged that a parked 
vehicle could slide on a gradient greater than 1 in 15, and gradients greater 1 in 15 
will not therefore be permitted.

38

Page 306



Drainage

A driveway should be internally drained with no surface water discharging on to 
the public road. This is to prevent any flooding on the public road, with ice perhaps 
forming in the winter.

Construction of the Footway Crossing 

A driveway must be served by a footway crossing constructed by the City Council to 
ensure that it is constructed to a suitable standard and that any services under the 
footway have suitable protection.  
Loose material e.g. stone chippings must not be used to surface the first 2 metres 
of the driveway adjacent to the footway.  Only one footway crossing will be 
allowed per property to avoid any impact on road safety.  The normal width of a 
footway crossing is 3 metres but this may be increased to 6 metres for a double 
driveway.

The applicant is responsible for the payment of all works involved.

Landlords/Other Consents 

In addition Superior’s or Landlord’s consent may be required for the Works. 
Solicitor’s advice should be sought on this matter. Where the Council owns the 
property, the Council’s consent as landlord will be required. Where the property was 
previously in the ownership of the Council, there may also be a requirement to seek 
“Superior’s Consent” from the Council for the Works. This should be obtained 
before work commences.

Where a change of use of private or public open space is required please contact the 
council.

Driveway application to Enterprise, Planning and Infrastructure 

An application for a driveway should be made to Enterprise, Planning and 
Infrastructure. Staff will give advice on what is required for a driveway and whether 
the driveway will require a planning application. If no planning application is required 
they will advise if the driveway is acceptable with regard to council standards. For 
further information please contact: 

Planning and Sustainable Development 
Enterprise, Planning & Infrastructure  
Aberdeen City Council 
Business Hub 4
Ground Floor North 
Marischal College 
Broad Street 
Aberdeen, AB10 1AB 
Tel: 01224 523470, Fax: 01224 636181 
Email pi@aberdeencity.gov.uk 

Some of the questions that will require to be answered are: 
Is the property a council house? 

39

Page 307



40

Is the property a flat? 
Is the driveway to be at right angles to the road? 
Is the driveway to be a minimum of 5 metres long? 

All applications must include a suitable plan clearly showing the location of the 
proposed driveway and the dimensions along with the construction details. All 
applications must satisfy the standards described above or the application may be 
rejected.

Page 308



10. AUTOMATIC TELLER MACHINES (“CASH MACHINES”) 

The location of ATMs has implications for road safety and parking.  Ideally auto-
tellers should be located along active building frontages in public areas where there 
is a high level of pedestrian movements and passive surveillance.  These may be at 
main shopping streets, supermarkets, neighbourhood shopping areas or bank 
premises, but other locations may be acceptable.  This guidance clarifies where new 
ATMs may be provided. 

The suitability of new ATMs will be considered on the following criteria: 

• The level of pedestrian movements; 
• Positioning of the ATM in relation to active building frontages and passive 

surveillance; 
• Width of pavements around the proposed ATM; 
• The availability of parking adjacent to the proposed sites where there is 

no obstruction to surrounding uses or driveways; 
• Appearance of the ATM and impact on the surrounding built and natural 

environment.

The auto-teller should not be positioned adjacent to or near junctions or bends in the 
road or in areas where there is poor visibility.  The provision of a proposed ATM 
should not cause obstruction to existing pedestrian movements. 

In addition, there shall be a presumption against granting planning permission for 
automatic telling machines where it can be clearly demonstrated: 

a) that the width of the footpavement in the vicinity of the machine is restricted in 
relation to the observed level of pedestrian movements along that section, and 
may furthermore be restricted by the presence of bus stops or light controlled 
pedestrian crossings, such that the congestion created by persons standing at 
the machine may cause an obstruction to the free flow of pedestrian movement 
along the footpavement.

b) that the machine is to be located within 3 metres of the corner of the building at a 
street junction where persons standing at the machine may cause an obstruction 
to the free flow of pedestrian movement along the converging footpavements.

c) that the machine is to be located where it is not readily visible from a public 
thoroughfare or is in an area poorly lit.

d) that the installation of the machine would be too detrimental to the external 
appearance of the property or would result in the loss of, or unsatisfactory 
alteration to, an internal feature of architectural or historical importance.

41

Page 309



Relevant Links:

Aberdeen City Council Directional Signage Guidance for Paths 2011 

http://www.aberdeencity.gov.uk/nmsruntime/saveasdialog.asp?lID=39148&sID=3159

Aberdeen City Council Travel Plan Builder 

http://www.aberdeencitytravelplans.co.uk

Aberdeen Local Transport Strategy (2008-2012) 

http://www.aberdeencity.gov.uk/web/files/sl_Planning/local_transport_strategy08.pdf

Aberdeen Local Transport Strategy (2008 -2012) Monitoring Update Paper 2009 

http://www.aberdeencity.gov.uk/nmsruntime/saveasdialog.asp?lID=25606&sID=2866

Aberdeen Outdoor Access Forum 

http://www.aberdeencity.gov.uk/planning_environment/environment/core_paths/pla_o
utdooraccessforum.asp

Aberdeen Core Paths Plan 2009 

http://www.aberdeencity.gov.uk/planning_environment/environment/core_paths/pla_c
orepaths.asp

Designing Streets: A Policy Statement for Scotland 2010 

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/307126/0096540.pdf

First Group Plc Aberdeen 

http://www.firstgroup.com/ukbus/aberdeen/

Lowland Path Construction: A guide to Good Practice 2001 

http://www.pathsforall.org.uk/component/option,com_docman/Itemid,69/gid,101/task,
doc_details/

Nestrans – The Transport Strategy for Aberdeen City and Shire 

http://www.nestrans.org.uk/home.html

Signage Guidance for Outdoor Access: A Guide to Good Practice 2009 

http://www.pathsforall.org.uk/component/option,com_docman/Itemid,69/gid,106/task,
doc_details/

42

Page 310



43

Stagecoach Bus 

http://www.stagecoachbus.com/

Transport Assessments and Implementation: A Guide 2005 

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2005/08/1792325/23264

Page 311



www.aberdeencity.gov.uk

E-Mail: pi@aberdeencity.gov.uk

/

01224 523 470

01224 523 470

01224 523 470

01224 523 470

01224 523 470

01224 523 470

Page 312



Supplementary Guidance 

Topic: Waste Management 
Requirements in New Development 

March 2012 

Page 313



Supplementary Planning Guidance – Waste Management Requirements 
for New Development 

Developments should provide enough space for the storage and collection of 
waste – specifically recyclables, composting and residual waste – and access 
to such facilities. Planning conditions are already imposed on proposals likely 
to generate a significant amount of waste e.g. public houses, restaurants, 
medium to large-scale retail outlets and offices. However more could be done 
at the design stage to ensure that adequate provision is made for such 
facilities.

Policy R6 states that all new development will be required to incorporate 
adequate provision for waste disposal and recycling facilities. Housing 
developments regardless of size should have sufficient space for the storage 
of residual, recyclable and compostable wastes (black, blue and brown 
wheelie bins). Flatted developments will require communal facilities that allow 
for the separate storage and collection of these materials. Recycling facilities 
should be provided in all new superstores or large supermarkets and in other 
developments where appropriate. Details of storage facilities and means of 
collection must be included as part of any planning application for 
development which would generate waste. 

In order to allow as many people as possible to recycle their household waste, 
the Aberdeen Waste Strategy relies on the kerbside collection of segregated 
waste. Houses will have 3 wheelie bins.  

There will be a need for space for multiple waste storage bins and containers 
at each property. Different developments will have a different waste 
management service and therefore, space and access requirements. In all 
domestic cases, developments should comply with Building Standards 
(Standard 3.25 of the Technical Handbook). 

Houses with Gardens 

From 2012/13, houses with gardens will have 3 wheeled bins: 

1. A 240l wheeled bin for recyclable materials such as glass, plastics, cans, 
paper and card. This is currently taken to Sclattie Quarry for transfer. 
However, in future it will be taken to a new Material Recycling Facility in 
Altens to be separated for recycling.
2. A black wheeled bin for residual waste – what’s left – currently the bin 
provided for this service has a capacity of 240l but this may reduce in time to 
180l.
3. A brown bin for garden waste. 
In addition, houses will need a 25l food waste container that will be taken for 
composting or anaerobic digestion.

Houses will require an external space for 3 x 240 litre wheeled bins. The 
minimum size of external waste storage area required is 2m x 1m per house. 
This should be hard surfaced and, if covered, a minimum height of 2m. 

2

Page 314



Preferably, storage areas should be screened or sited out of public view, but 
readily accessible to the householders.  

There should also be space in private or shared gardens for home composting 
(see below). 

Houses without Gardens 

From 2012/13, houses without gardens will have a 25l food waste container 
and 2 wheeled bins: 

1. A 240l wheeled bin for recyclable materials such as glass, plastics, cans, 
paper and card. This is currently taken to Sclattie Quarry for transfer. 
However, in future it will be taken to a new Material Recycling Facility in 
Altens to be separated for recycling.
2. A black wheeled bin for residual waste – what’s left – currently the bin 
provided for this service has a capacity of 240l but this may reduce in time to 
180l.
In addition, houses will need a 25l food waste container that will be taken for 
composting or anaerobic digestion. 

The householder is responsible for moving bins from storage areas to the 
public road footway adjacent to the property where they can be emptied by 
the Council. This distance should be kept to a minimum and as agreed with 
the collection authority. There should be no steps, kerbs or other obstructions 
between the storage areas and collection points for safety reasons. The route 
should be surfaced. Maximum Gradients are given in pages 44 and 45 of 
Designing Streets 
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/304284/0095457.pdf

Wheeled bins will be provided by Aberdeen City Council for new 
developments.

Where we introduce food waste only collections (houses without gardens and 
multi-occupancy properties), we will probably provide a 7l kitchen caddy 
(designed to sit on a work surface) and a 25l food bin that sits under the 
sink/beside the general waste bin in the kitchen: 

3

Page 315



In flats and terraces it is usual for householders to store their waste 
externally, either in individual bins or communal bins. Adequate provision 
should be made for external hard standing space for communal bins for 
residual, compostable and recycling waste. As a guide, one x 1280l bin for 
refuse and recycling and 1 x 240l for food waste should be provided for every 
10 flats.

These should be easy to reach for both householders (ideally between main 
points of access and car parking/main pedestrian routes) and refuse collection 
vehicles so they should be close to a public road, have no steps and 
incorporate drop kerbs where appropriate. The use of access pends and rear 
service routes may be appropriate. The turning diameter for refuse vehicles is 
18m. If this cannot be provided throughout a development, then a centralised 
external storage point which is accessible to refuse vehicles must be 
provided. The suitability of the surface and access and egress routes for 
vehicles should be agrees with the highways authority. Turning on lockblock 
paving should be avoided.

In some cases it may be necessary to make provision for Factor’s waste. In 
flats this is mainly garden waste so storage provision should be made for this 
where appropriate. 

Storage areas should also be adequately screened, lit and hard surfaced. 
Communal storage areas should preferably be roofed with appropriate 
clearance for hinged bin lids.

Aberdeen City Council provides communal storage bins for a charge. For 
further details contact the Waste Team 
Email wasteaware@aberdeencity.gov.uk
Tel: 08456 08 09 19 

There should also be space in private or shared gardens for home composting 
(see below). 

One issue which developers may wish to explore with our Waste Team 
(wasteawareaberdeen@aberdeencity.gov.uk) is that of underground storage 
and/or design of above ground storage for communal properties. We will look 
at this in more detail in respect of its costs, possible take up in future and 
practical issues of how to service underground bins effectively. Such an 
approach may be more practical for larger developments of over 50 flats to 
provide for the installation of underground bins. It would free up more space 
for the development compared to bin compounds as compensation. 

Composting is a good option for the treatment and recycling of garden and 
other organic waste. Home composting areas should be designed into all new 
housing developments and compost bins provided. However, they must be 
carefully designed as part of the garden and not merely placed in a 
convenient area which may be inappropriate.

4

Page 316



A 2m x1m area should be provided with a suitable sized composter and 
adequate drainage considered. Normally a 330 litre compost bin is adequate 
for most small to medium sized gardens but different sizes are available. 
Compost bins and green cones (which are used to digest food waste) can be 
supplied by Aberdeen City Council for a charge. Alternatively, householders 
can purchase a range of subsidised bins from Zero Waste Scotland website 
http://wasteawarescotland.org.uk/.

Commercial developments vary in activity and scale. However, they will be 
expected to recycle waste and so multiple storage containers are likely to be 
required. The minimum size of storage area for a small shop is 2m x 1m. This 
is a minimum area and size will vary significantly due to the size and type of 
business. Larger retail and commercial developments should as a minimum 
allow for three separate containers for refuse, paper and card and other 
recyclables. As with residential properties, areas of hard standing at storage 
and collection points are required and dropped kerbs along routes where 
waste is moved in wheeled containers. Where premises are accessible to the 
public, safe pedestrian access must be provided even where collection is from 
the public footway.

Post 2012/3, we will convert all recycling points, including those in 
supermarket car parks to mixed recycling bins. We could potentially add 
facilities for other materials such as batteries and small waste electrical and 
electronic equipment (WEEE).  Retail outlets that sell electrical goods should 
provide front of store battery recycling facilities and where practical, back-of-
store facilities for WEEE take back.

Commercial properties do not have to use Aberdeen City Council to uplift and 
dispose of their waste. If they request the service, charges are levied for the 
provision of appropriate bins and for collection and disposal. For any 
information on business waste, including costs, or to arrange meetings and 
discuss waste management practices, contact the Council’s Waste Aware 
Team on 08456 080919 or email wasteawareaberdeen@aberdeencity.gov.uk.

Site Waste Management Plans 

Developers can save money and help the environment by not over-ordering 
materials, using recycled material and minimising waste production during 
construction. Preparing a Site Waste Management Plan will help identify how 
much waste will be produced, how this can be minimised and what might be 
done with the waste. For proposals where we believe the potential savings are 
likely to be significant, we will ask developers to prepare a Site Waste 
Management Plan. The Netregs website has a useful checklist and guide for 
creating these. 

http://www.netregs.gov.uk/static/documents/NetRegs/SWMP_Simple_Guide_
Feb_2011.pdf

5

Page 317



Contacts

For general information on household, recycling and commercial waste
visit
http://www.aberdeencity.gov.uk/Rubbish/wwa/rub_waste_aware_aberdeen.as
p

Email wasteawareaberdeen@aberdeencity.gov.uk
Tel: 08456 08 09 19 

For information on composting visit 
http://www.aberdeencity.gov.uk/Rubbish/wwa/household_waste/rub_home_co
mposting.asp

For general information on Building Standards, contact

Building Standards Team

Planning and Sustainable Development 

Enterprise, Planning and Infrastructure 
Aberdeen City Council 
Business Hub 4 
Ground Floor North 
Marischal College
Broad Street 
Aberdeen
AB10 1AB 

Phone: 01224 523470 
Fax: 01224 636181 
Email: pi@aberdeencity.gov.uk

If you need advice or information on making a planning application contact

Application Support Team

Planning and Sustainable Development

Enterprise, Planning and Infrastructure 
Aberdeen City Council 
Business Hub 4 
Ground Floor North 
Marischal College
Broad Street 
Aberdeen
AB10 1AB 

Phone: 01224 523470 
Fax: 01224 636181 
Email: pi@aberdeencity.gov.uk

6

Page 318



7

External contacts 

Advice on composting and purchasing subsidised compost bins is 
available from the Waste Aware Scotland Website 
http://wasteawarescotland.org.uk/

Other general information and guidance on waste can be found on the 
Scottish Environment Protection Agency website http://www.sepa.org.uk/

Page 319



www.aberdeencity.gov.uk

E-Mail: pi@aberdeencity.gov.uk

/

01224 523 470

01224 523 470

01224 523 470

01224 523 470

01224 523 470

01224 523 470

Page 320



Supplementary Guidance 

Topic: The sub-division and 
redevelopment of residential 
curtilages 

March 2012 

Page 321



1

CONTENTS 

Content Page 
number 

Introduction 2 

Development Guidelines 3

Privacy, residential amenity, daylight and sunlight 3 
Privacy 3
Amenity 4
Daylight 5
Sunlight 5

Design and Materials  5

Density, pattern and scale of development 6

Trees and garden ground 7 

Pedestrian/vehicular safety and car parking 8

Precedent 8 

Conclusion 8 

Appendix 1   9

Appendix 2 10

References 11 

Page 322



2

1.0  Introduction
1.1 In recent years the growing restriction of available land supply for new 

housing development on both greenfield and brownfield sites in the City 
together with escalating house prices have led to increasing pressures 
for: 

� the construction of houses and flats (together henceforth 
referred to as dwellings) within the garden ground of existing 
residential property (curtilage splitting) and 
� the complete demolition and replacement of existing 
dwellings by new dwellings at higher density on the same 
curtilage or curtilages (redevelopment) 

1.2 These pressures are most intense in the areas of the City with the 
highest house prices and with the lowest densities of residential 
development. It is here that developers perceive that the most 
opportunities exist for splitting of curtilages/redevelopment and the 
greatest returns can be made on investment. The Deeside settlements 
of Cults, Bieldside and Milltimber have been a particular target of 
developers in this respect. 

1.3 The problem of preparing guidelines to assist in the determination of 
planning applications that involve the sub-division or complete 
redevelopment of an existing residential curtilage(s) to create one or 
more new dwellings on the original site(s) is caused by the wide variety 
in the form and layout of residential properties in the city. These range 
from large dwellings sitting in grounds of one acre and upwards, to 
granite properties of the late 19th century, inter-war developments and 
post war housing estates. Within most of these general groups there 
are differing types of building, i.e. detached, semi-detached or terraced, 
each with different arrangements and provision of rear or side gardens 
and in some cases rear lanes to provide vehicular or pedestrian 
access. To attempt to prepare concise guidelines to cover for all of the 
eventualities arising from this wide cross section of curtilages is 
complex. Nevertheless, the fundamental character of many attractive 
residential areas formed by the pattern of development and the 
relationship between buildings and landscaped garden ground with 
mature trees is likely to be adversely affected if the current trend of 
curtilage splitting and redevelopment continues indefinitely. With this in 
mind, the guidelines in this document are considered to be essential as 
part of the planning response to protect the appearance and residential 
amenity of the City as a whole. 

1.4 It should be noted that, although specifically targeted at residential 
development on sites currently in residential use, some elements of this 
guidance are applicable to other types of development. For instance, 
non residential development within the curtilage of an existing dwelling 
and the construction of dwellings on greenfield and brownfield sites that 
are not currently in residential use. 

Page 323



3

2.0 Development Guidelines 
2.1 It is considered that curtilage splitting involves development on urban 

green space (garden ground), whilst redevelopment of residential sites 
involves development on both urban green space (garden ground) and 
brownfield land (the footprint of existing dwellings). This supplementary 
guidance is considered necessary to establish the criteria against 
which applications for redevelopment and curtilage splitting should be 
assessed. 

2.2 The following development guidelines are not intended to be cover all 
the planning considerations that are relevant or all potential curtilage 
split or redevelopment scenarios but they are targeted at providing 
more specific guidance on the most commonly encountered situations. 

3.0  Privacy, residential amenity, daylight and sunlight
3.1 As a general principle new residential development should not borrow 

amenity from, or prejudice the development of, adjacent land or 
adversely affect existing development in terms of privacy, overlooking, 
daylighting or sunlighting. 

3.2 The relationship of new residential development to existing dwellings is 
an important factor to be considered in assessing whether the privacy, 
amenity, sunlight and daylight of residents of both existing and 
proposed dwellings would be adversely affected. 

Privacy 
3.3 To ensure privacy, as a general guideline, there should be a minimum 

separation of 18 metres between the windows of existing and proposed 
habitable rooms (i.e. the shortest line joining one window opening to 
any part of the other). Notwithstanding the foregoing there will be 
circumstances in which greater distances are appropriate – for instance 
where there are differences in ground levels or where higher buildings 
are proposed. Habitable rooms constitute all rooms designed for living, 
eating or sleeping e.g. lounges, bedrooms and dining rooms/areas. 
This distance can be reduced if the angle between the windows of the 
existing and proposed residential properties is offset, if effective 
screening exists, or if screening is proposed that would not obstruct 
light (see Appendix 2), adversely affect residential amenity or be 
unacceptable for other planning reasons. Appendix 1 provides further 
guidance on the acceptable distances between windows to ensure 
adequate privacy based on the angle between them. This methodology 
will also be applied to assess the potential privacy impact of proposed 
extensions to existing residential property. 

3.4 Devices such as angled or controlled aspect windows or louvres will 
not normally be a justification for a reduction in these privacy distances. 
In exceptional circumstances high level windows may be acceptable as 
long as they are not to habitable rooms or are secondary windows to 
habitable rooms (ie smaller windows provided in addition and usually in 
a different wall, to a room’s main window). 

Page 324



4

3.5 Any windows to habitable rooms should not look out directly over, or 
down into, areas used as private amenity space by residents of 
adjoining dwellings. In these circumstances the windows of non-
habitable rooms should be fitted with obscure glass.  

Amenity space
3.6 Residential development should have a public face to the street and a 

private face to an enclosed garden or court. All residents should have 
access to sitting out areas.  

3.7 Rear gardens of dwellings up to two storeys in height should have an 
average length of at least 9 metres and dwellings of more than 2 
storeys should have garden lengths of at least 11 metres. Garden 
ground should be conveniently located immediately adjoining 
residential properties, be in a single block of a size and layout to be 
useable for sitting out and have an acceptable level of privacy and 
amenity. For instance, it will not be acceptable for private garden 
ground to be: 

ÿ at the street frontage of a property, close to and overlooked from 
the road 

ÿ located under the canopy of trees or in a location that is excessively 
shaded by vegetation or buildings or to directly overlooked by 
windows of habitable rooms of adjoining residential property  

ÿ rear gardens should be enclosed by solid fences or walls of at least 
1.8 metres in height in order to ensure security and privacy. 

3.8 In flatted developments in high density, central urban locations site 
constraints may mean that a balcony for each flat may be all that can 
be accommodated. Even in these situations, however, garden ground 
should be provided if at all possible (for instance by placing car parking 
areas under a deck, under the buildings or underground to free up 
space for garden ground or amenity areas) 

3.9 Where it is necessary to accommodate car parking within a private 
court,  

ÿ the parking must not dominate the space and no more than 50 
percent of any court should be taken up by parking spaces or 
access roads and  

ÿ a detailed landscape plan will be require to be submitted along with 
any planning application  

ÿ car parking courts should be located to the rear of any proposed 
residential development and not between the street frontage of the 
development and the public road 

Daylight 
3.10 Where appropriate, the impact of new residential development on 

daylight for both existing and proposed residents will be informed both 
by professional judgement and by technical guidance. If not submitted 
with an application, applicants will be asked in appropriate 

Page 325



5

circumstances to support their proposals with calculations and 
illustrations based on the BRE Information Paper on Site Layout 
Planning for Daylight1. Development proposals should satisfy the 25 
degree approach illustrated in the diagram in Appendix 2. The 25 
degree approach defines the point at which good interior daylighting 
can be achieved. It requires that (on the main front and rear elevations 
of a building) no obstruction measured in a vertical section 
perpendicular to the main face from a point two metres above ground 
level, subtends an angle more than 25 degrees to the horizontal. If the 
25 degree approach is not met there may still remain the potential for 
adequate daylighting and a more detailed assessment must be made 
by calculating the vertical sky component using the methodology in the 
BRE Information Paper1. The appropriate methodology in this BRE 
Information Paper1 will also be applied to assess the potential sunlight 
impacts of proposed extensions to existing residential property 

Sunlight 
3.11 New dwellings should be designed and orientated to make the most of 

the opportunities offered by the site for views and sunlight in order to 
provide a pleasant living environment and maximise passive solar gain. 
If not submitted with an application, applicants will be asked in 
appropriate circumstances to support their proposals with calculations 
and illustrations based on the BRE Information Papers on sunlight and 
solar gain2. This methodology will also be applied to assess the 
potential sunlight impacts of proposed extensions to existing residential 
property. 

4.0 Design and Materials 
4.1 In general the design and external finishes of any new dwellings should 

complement those of the surrounding area. High quality contemporary 
or modern design that enhances the appearance of the area, or that 
provides an attractive contrast to surrounding buildings, will be 
encouraged where appropriate.  

4.2 In conservation areas there will be a presumption against the 
demolition of existing granite built dwellings. In circumstances in which 
it is proposed to demolish a granite faced dwelling, or in conservation 
areas where granite architecture predominates, there will be a 
requirement that all elevations of new development that would be 
prominently visible from the street (including gables) should be finished 
with natural granite and the main roof should be of complementary 
natural roofing materials (almost always natural slate). An exception 
may be made in circumstances where a particularly high quality 
modern design is proposed. However, particular care will be necessary 
to ensure that any new dwelling incorporates design elements and 
materials that respect the character of the area. 

5.0 Density, pattern and scale of development
5.1 The construction of a new dwelling or dwellings within an established 

area will affect the overall density and pattern of development of the 

Page 326



6

surrounding area, the acceptability of which will be dependent on the 
general form of development in the locality. Consideration must be 
given to the effect the dwelling or dwellings may have on the character 
of the area formed by the intricate relationship between buildings and 
their surrounding spaces created by gardens and other features. New 
dwellings must be designed to respect this relationship. 

5.2 In terms of density, as a general guide, no more than a third (33 
percent) of the total site area for each individual curtilage should be 
built upon. Densities of less than 33 percent will be required in areas of 
lower density housing. Densities higher than 33 percent will only be 
allowed when similar densities are characteristic of development in the 
surrounding residential area. 

5.3 In most cases the predominant pattern of development in suburban 
residential areas is one of dwellings in a formal or semi-formal building 
line fronting onto a public road and having back gardens which provide 
private amenity space. In these areas the construction of dwellings in 
the rear gardens of existing dwellings, or the redevelopment of a site 
that results in dwellings that do not front onto a public road, constitutes 
a form of development that is alien to the established density, character 
and pattern of development. This form of development can also and 
erode the privacy and private amenity space available to existing 
residents. Furthermore, the use of rear lanes for shared pedestrian or 
vehicular access to dwellings in rear gardens is not considered 
acceptable in that it results in the creation of a pedestrian safety 
hazard. Finally, approval of “tandem” or backland development of this 
sort sets an undesirable precedent for future applications of a similar 
nature, which, if replicated, could result in the creation of a second 
building line behind existing dwellings and fundamentally erode the 
character and residential amenity of such areas. With this in mind, in all 
suburban areas characterised by formal or semi-formal building line 
fronting onto a public road and having back gardens which provide 
private amenity space there will be a general presumption against the 
construction of new dwellings in rear garden ground behind existing or 
proposed dwellings in circumstances where the new dwellings do not 
front onto a public road. 

5.4 New dwellings should not project forward of the building line of the 
street (if there is one). The width of a curtilage may allow for a dwelling 
to be built alongside an existing dwelling or for an existing house or 
dwellings to be demolished to make way for a new development facing 
the street. The distance between proposed dwellings, and between 
proposed and existing dwellings, (ie between gable ends) should be 
similar to that predominating on the street. 

5.5 Notwithstanding the foregoing, the following may be possible:  
(a) to convert existing substantial sized traditional granite built 

outbuildings at the rear of existing properties to form dwellings 
(subject to other material considerations) where most of the 

Page 327



7

accommodation of any individual dwelling is contained within the 
envelope of the original structure. The creation of new dwelling(s) 
within rear wings attached to existing houses will not be permitted. 

(b) to accommodate a new dwelling in the rear garden of an existing 
dwelling on a corner site so that existing and proposed dwellings 
have a road frontage. In these instances, as well as complying with 
other planning criteria, both the existing and proposed dwellings will 
require private garden ground in compliance with guidelines in the 
‘Amenity Space’ section above (please see para. 3.6 – 3.9). The 
amalgamation or joining together of the gardens of existing 
dwellings to accommodate a new dwelling or dwellings and 
associated garden ground will not be allowed in these 
circumstances.  

(c) In the case of the redevelopment of an exceptionally large site (if 
the form of development is not alien to the general pattern, density 
and character of dwellings in the area), it may be possible for 
detached houses to be built which gain access from a new private 
driveway or a new road constructed to adoptable standard. Where a 
driveway (rather than a road to adoptable standard) is proposed this 
should serve a maximum of three or four houses 

5.6 In all circumstances, the scale and massing of the any new dwelling(s) 
should complement the scale of the surrounding properties. Where new 
dwellings are proposed that front onto a street adjoining or between 
existing existing properties, a street elevation to a recognised scale will 
require to be submitted with any planning application to illustrate the 
relationship between the proposed dwelling(s) and existing adjoining 
properties. In these circumstances, it will not be acceptable for the 
ridges or wallheads of any new dwelling(s) to rise above the height of 
the ridges or wallheads on adjoining dwellings unless this results 
directly from a pre-existing difference in ground level (eg a dwelling to 
be built at a higher level due to the slope of street). 

5.7 It is important to remember that, in many instances, a residential 
property can be extended without the need for planning permission, 
which can be particularly relevant when considering the impact the 
proposal may have on neighbouring residents and the appearance of 
the surrounding built environment. Permitted development rights will be 
removed by planning condition where appropriate in these 
circumstances. 

6.0 Trees and garden ground
6.1 Trees make a valuable contribution to the landscape setting of urban 

areas and the loss of significant trees can be valid reason for refusal of 
planning permission. With this in mind there will be a presumption in 
favour of retaining semi-mature and mature trees either within the site 
or immediately adjacent to it regardless of whether they are protected 
by a Tree Preservation Order or sited in a Conservation Area. Where 

Page 328



8

mature or semi-mature trees are located on a site a tree survey will 
require to be submitted with the planning application in accordance with 
guidance in British Standard 5837. Care should be taken to position 
new buildings to minimise potential disturbance to the root system or 
the tree canopy. If trees are to be lost, replacement planting will be 
required where possible to mitigate for the loss. 

6.2 Similarly the loss of garden ground can be a material consideration that 
can lead to refusal of an application in circumstances where it is 
considered to make a significant contribution to the visual amenity of 
the neighbourhood. For example, the loss of mature or attractive 
garden areas that are prominent in views from adjoining streets. 

7.0 Pedestrian/vehicular safety and car parking
7.1 The provision of pedestrian and vehicular access to both the existing 

and the new dwelling is essential. In every case there should be safe 
and convenient pedestrian and vehicular access from the dwelling to 
the public road and pavement, avoiding contrived solutions. With the 
exception of private driveways it will not normally be acceptable for 
pedestrian access to be shared with vehicles eg where pedestrians 
have to walk on the carriageway of rear lanes or public roads to gain 
access to the development. 

7.2 On-site parking to the appropriate level as stated in the adopted 
parking standards must be met both for the existing and the new 
dwelling(s).  

7.3 Vehicular access from the public street must provide safe sightlines for 
pedestrians and the driver of the vehicle.  

7.4 Driveways should be at least 5 metres in length (6 metres in front of 
garage doors). 

8.0 Precedent
8.1 The need to avoid setting a precedent is a material consideration when 

determining planning applications. It is appropriate, when considering 
an application for a curtilage split or redevelopment, to consider 
whether the proposal may create a precedent whereby it would be 
difficult to resist similar developments, the cumulative effect of which 
would have a harmful effect on the character or amenity of the 
immediate area or the wider City.  

9.0 Conclusion
9.1 Since every application requires to be assessed on its own merits and 

site specific circumstances vary so much other issues may be relevant 
to individual planning applications. However the issues that have been 
identified above should always be considered when determining an 
application for the sub-division or redevelopment of existing residential 
curtilages. 

Page 329



9

Appendix 1 - 
Method for checking privacy distances between window openings 

Page 330



10

Appendix 2 - 
The 25 degree approach to calculating daylight 

Page 331



11

REFERENCES  
1. Littlefair PJ. “Site layout planning for daylight”. Building Research 
Establishment Information Paper. March 1992.  

2. Littlefair PJ. “Site layout for sunlight and solar gain”. Building Research 
Establishment Information Paper. March 1992  

The above publications can be purchased from: BRE Bucknalls Lane Watford 
WD25 9XX or http://www.brebookshop.com

FURTHER INFORMATION  
If you require any further information please contact us:  

Planning and Sustainable Development 
Enterprise, Planning and Infrastructure 
Aberdeen City Council 
Business Hub 4 
Ground Floor North 
Marischal College 
Broad Street 
Aberdeen, AB10 1AB 

Telephone: 01224 523470  
Fax: 01224 636181  
E-Mail: pi@aberdeencity.gov.uk 

Page 332



Agenda Item 4(C)

Page 333



Page 334



Page 335



Page 336



 

 

Our Ref: PB/SB/MM.0526 
 
 
PROPOSED FLATTED DEVELOPMENT 
44 BEDFORD ROAD 
ABERDEEN 
AB24 3LH 
 
FOR ASA LTD 
 
 
STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF NOTICE OF REVIEW 

MAY 2014 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 

 
This report accompanies the Notice of Review application, in respect of the above, lodged with Aberdeen 
City Council dated 2 June 2014. 
 
The purpose of this report, rather than outlining Planning Policy, is to address the reasons given for refusal, 
under the following headings, of our application (ref: P140090) for a 8no 2 bed flatted development with 
associated car parking.  
 
With regard to Planning Policy, this report will not consider policy in detail, rather; the reader is respectfully 
invited to review the Statement in Support of the aforementioned Planning Application dated January 2014. 
 
 

OVERDEVELOPMENT 

 

Rather than the scheme being overdevelopment of the site the proposals make efficient use of what is & will 
likely continue to be disused garden ground at 44 Bedford Road.  
 
Paragraph 82 of current Scottish Planning Policy (SPP) highlights the importance that infill sites within 
existing settlements can make to the much needed supply of housing land. The density of such development 
should be considered in relation to the character of the place, with higher densities appropriate at central and 
accessible locations. SPP (at para 83) states that it is possible, through good design, to achieve higher 
density living environments without overcrowding or loss of amenity. 
 
The proposals, through sensitive design, provide private garden ground for both the residents of the 
proposed development and the existing properties at 44 Bedford Road. 
 
Again through considered design the privacy of the garden ground at 42 Bedford Road is maintained while 
the southerly aspect of the site ensures that natural light levels will remain abundant. 
 
No letters of representation have been submitted in respect of the application. 
 
 

BUILDING DESIGN 

 

A mix of building styles can be found surrounding the application site ranging from 2 1/2 storey traditional 
granite built tenement properties to 1 1/2 and 2 storey terraced houses.  
 
Rather than adopting a scheme which is a pastiche of the typical tenement block at 57 Bedford Place, to 
which the proposed development is adjacent, the proposals suggests a break & offset of the building line 
allowing a contrasting & contemporary take on the traditional tenement property. 
 
The wall head at the building frontage creates a parapet which conceals a low lying pitched roof designed to 
ensure the existing building height is maintained. 
 
High quality natural materials are proposed throughout with extensive use of granite proposed for the 
building frontage to Bedford Place. 
 

Page 337



 

 

Notwithstanding the aforementioned an alternative scheme has been developed. The revised scheme 
illustrates the continuation of the mansard roof at 57 Bedford Place while the building frontage is extended in 
line.  
 
Unfortunately the applicants were not given the opportunity to present this scheme prior to the issue of the 
refusal decision and take this opportunity to issue accompanying drawings  
MM.0526-006 & 007 to illustrate how planning officer concerns might have been allayed. 
 
Concerns over lack of daylight & sunlight are without foundation.  
 
Whilst the orientation of the site permits only North facing windows to certain rooms; windows throughout are 
full height & provide at least 150% (more often 200% & 300%) of current Building Standards daylight 
provision requirements. Southerly orientated windows will benefit from the extensive light associated with 
south facing aspect.     
 
As well as considering elevation treatment concerns the revised scheme presented also illustrates the 
reconfiguration of the plan layout which addresses unsubstantiated concerns of poor sunlight & daylight. 
 
 

CAR PARKING 

 

Car parking, especially in the current climate, should be weighed against the effect that an over- provision of 
parking can have on reducing travel by alternative means. Indeed current guidance on Transport & 
Accessibility states that Low Car Housing schemes, in recognition of the contribution they can make towards 
sustainable development, are to be supported & encouraged.  
 
Likewise policy D3: Sustainable & Active Travel suggests that new development should be designed to 
minimise travel by private car, improving access to services while promoting healthy lifestyles by 
encouraging active travel.  
 
Car parking within the development is provided at a rate of one space per flat. This provision is 
supplemented by bicycle & motor cycle parking & furthermore by the fact that Bedford Place is ideally placed 
to take advantage of the public transport network which is freely available within 400 metres of the 
application site. 
 
In line with Local Transport Strategy the development proposed offers clear access arrangements & a 
sustainable travel strategy. In addition to this strategy the applicant has confirmed that they would be 
pleased to enter into agreement to form a new or supplement an existing Car Club for the use of occupants. 
 
 
OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 

 
Whilst not being given as reasons for refusal the report of handling notes several contentious issues arising 
from consultations which are addressed below. 
 
ROADS PROJECT TEAM. 
 
Car park access & parking bay design: accompanying drawings MM.0526-006 & 007 illustrates increased 
access, bay & aisle widths along with a separate pedestrian / bicycle access. These points could have been 
address prior to this stage had opportunity to do so been offered. 
 
POLICE SCOTLAND - ARCHITECTURAL LIASON 
 
The aforementioned accompanying drawings show the removal of the previously recessed entrance as well 
as the re-location of bin storage to within the common garden ground. Under croft parking is to be controlled 
via secure occupant only activated shuttering. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Page 338



 

 

CONCLUSION 
 
The scheme proposed is of exemplary quality which will, in accordance with Scottish Planning Policy 3, 
make a useful contribution to the supply of much needed housing.  
 
Furthermore the proposal will support the wider regeneration of the community, developing a site in an 
economic & sustainable way, which would otherwise remain over grown & disused. 
 
 

 

 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 339



Page 340

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 341



Page 342

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 343



Page 344

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Procedure Notice
	2(A) Report of Handling
	2(B) Details of Planning Policies referred to in documents submitted
	Policy NE2
	Policy D1
	Policy D2
	Policy NE5
	Policy NE6
	Oldfold Development Framework and Masterplan Summary Document

	2(C) Notice of Review with supporting information submitted by applicant
	3(A) Report of Handling
	3(B) Details of Planning Policies referred to in documents submitted
	Policy C2
	Policy T2
	Policy R6

	3(C) Notice of Review with supporting information submitted by applicant
	4(A) Report of Handling
	4(B) Details of Planning Policies referred to in documents submitted
	Policy I1
	Policy T2
	Policy D1
	Policy D2
	Policy D3
	Policy H1
	Policy H3
	Policy H5
	Policy R6
	Policy R7
	Supplementary Guidance - Low and Zero Carbon Buildings - February 2014
	Supplementary Guidance - Transport and Accessibility - March 2012
	Supplementary Guidance - Waste Management
	Supplementary Guidance - Subdivision of Residential Curtilages

	4(C) Notice of Review with supporting information submitted by applicant
	Bedford Road Appeal supporting statement
	Plan - outline C - elevation
	Plan - outline C - plans


